## Designing Special Electoral Mechanisms for Group Representation

By

Kristijan Vukelic

Submitted to

Central European University

Department of Political Science

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts

Supervisor: Professor Gabor Toka

Budapest, Hungary

2012

#### Abstract

The purpose of this paper is a detailed and systematic analysis of currently utilized electoral mechanisms that produce descriptive representation of various minority groups in parliaments around the world. The current literature on the topic has been concerned more with simplifying the existing variability than with in-depth comparison of cases. In order to remedy this gap in our knowledge, the first part of the thesis delivers a survey of twenty two countries where minorities are represented in the legislature through the working of an alternative set of electoral rules established explicitly for that purpose. The cases are found to be extremely heterogeneous with unique aspects in almost every country. The presentation of cases is followed by an analysis which tries to identify the general patterns that the cases fall into, with the ultimate goal of providing institutional designers with a clear set of available options for designing group representation mechanisms.

### **Table of Contents**

Abstract	i
Table of Contents	ii
List of Tables and Figures	iii
1. Introduction	
2. State of the field	
2.1. Representation theory, consociationalism and group representation	
2.2. Purpose and plan for the study	
3. An empirical survey: group representation around the world	
3.1. Afghanistan	
3.2. Colombia	
3.3. Croatia	
3.4. Germany	16
3.5. India	
3.6. Iraq	
3.7. Jordan	
3.8. Kosovo	20
3.9. Mauritius	21
3.10. Montenegro	24
3.11. New Zealand	
3.12. Niger	26
3.13. Pakistan	27
3.14. The Philippines	27
3.15. Poland	30
3.16. Romania	31
3.17. Samoa	33
3.18. Serbia	33
3.19. Singapore	34
3.20. Slovenia	36
3.21. Taiwan	37
3.22. Venezuela	39
3.23. Overview	40
4. Implementing the special measures	43
5. Selecting the groups and allocating seats	48
5.1. Selecting the beneficiary groups: self-determination or pre-determination	
5.2. Which groups should be represented?	
5.3. How many seats should a group be entitled to?	
5.4. Appropriateness of seat allocation in the surveyed cases	
6. Conclusion	
7. Appendix A	
8. References	
	•••• / 1

#### **List of Tables and Figures**

Figure 1: Options for defining beneficiary groups for special mechanisms ..... 53

#### 1. Introduction

In many countries around the world provisions guaranteeing proper representation of minorities are enshrined in constitutions, often including special provisions that go beyond simple protection and into the area of affirmative action. Protection of minority rights through representation in parliaments has been set as a valuable goal by scholars and international organizations. It was inscribed in multiple international treaties such as the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities and supported by relevant bodies created with the purpose of improving democracy, the most prominent example of which is the Venice Commission.

In this paper I will explore those political systems where minority groups were through law molded or confirmed as political constituencies of their own kind. A special concern will be paid to those countries where group relations are not the primary driving force of the political struggle (as is the case in power-sharing systems), but there still exists a more or less obvious need for representation of minorities to be fostered. One of the possibilities in such cases is establishment of special electoral mechanisms that would ensure that groups who are in a significant minority are nevertheless represented in the country's decision-making processes. The main question that I try to answer in this thesis is: which electoral mechanisms are available for this particular purpose?

My inquiry begins with a survey of the existing literature on the topic of group representation, through which the need for improvement is established and the starting points identified for the analysis that follows. In the third Chapter the relevant cases are identified and examined in turn, so as to prepare the necessary ingredients for analysis. Finally, the main part of the thesis consists of comparative analysis in an attempt to systematize the information accumulated in the second part and subsequently to materialize lessons for lawmakers and their advisors about the electoral mechanisms that best fulfill the goals set forth by advocates of group representation.

#### 2. State of the field

In the existing literature, the issue of representation of variously defined groups (such as ethnic, lingual, racial or religious groups) is usually approached from one of two angles. The first can be summarized under the label of representation theory, while the second is a combination of consociational theory and empirical study of electoral systems. I will briefly present both before proceeding to analyze the existing body of work that focuses more closely on the topic of special group representation mechanisms.

## 2.1. Representation theory, consociationalism and group representation

Representation theory was effectively established by the seminal work of Hannah Pitkin in 1967 and has been preoccupied with questions such as what representation really means, who is a proper representative and who has the right to be represented. It is related to and at some points intertwined with feminist and multiculturalist political theory, but is not identical with either one. A visible fruit of this link was the emergence of arguments for descriptive representation – a mode of representation which requires that representatives mirror the important social characteristics of the represented. First, at the beginning of the nineteen nineties, in her famous critique of liberal egalitarianism, Iris Young has repeatedly called for establishment of "real participatory structures in which actual people, with their geographical, ethnic, gender, and occupational differences, assert their perspectives on social issues within institutions that encourage the representation of their distinct voices" (Young 1990, 116). Her argument was prevalently theoretical with no concrete institutional solutions, but others have

built on it. For instance, Anne Philips (1995) has argued for the "politics of presence" through the means of such mechanisms as quotas for women, while Will Kymlicka (1995) has defended "collective rights" of ethnic groups.

The notion that groups should be treated separately within the electoral arena has not been accepted without critical reflection, however. Authors have generally been very careful in their support for "special" or "separate" mechanisms for group representation, even when they have in principle argued for inclusiveness (see Meier 2000). One example is Kymlicka's reluctance to discard the liberal critique stating that variation in electoral rules produces unjustly differentiated treatment for individuals (Kymlicka 1995, 150; for precise formulation of the critique see: Ward 1991). Another is Jane Mansbridge's warning against establishing "essential identities" which exclude and therefore almost inevitably antagonize and discriminate against each other (Mansbridge 1999, 637-639). In other cases, indecisiveness has been a consequence of theoretician's reluctance to wander far enough into the institutionalist territory. Melissa Williams has tried to remedy the latter problem by examining a more thorough list of institutional mechanisms, including reserved seats, race conscious districting and consociational arrangements (Williams 1998, 203-238). Her analysis is limited, however, as she concentrates on the most obvious examples and does not appreciate the full spectrum of available options, only citing particularly well known examples from countries such as New Zealand or Canada.

Nevertheless, the type of enquiry Williams has initiated is a more than welcome contribution to a necessary, but as of yet still underdeveloped dialogue between the various approaches to the issue of group representation. Although Williams understood "consociational arrangements" as a mechanism different from that of reserved seats, the study of both institutional forms has been an integral part of a specific approach to group politics championed by Arend Lijphart. He had first systematically analyzed the "non-PR methods" for group representation, including non-geographic ethnic districts, optional ethnic districts, predetermined ethnically mixed slates, and special exemptions for ethnic minorities (Lijphart 2003 [1986], 126). The term "non-PR methods" did not survive in the newer literature, but the authors today still mostly build on this and other Lijphart's work when trying to systematize the ways in which special mechanisms can be introduced into electoral systems.

Lijphart's ideas about power-sharing and amelioration of ethnic conflict have been dominating the debate about design of electoral systems in divided societies, but their influence has also spilled over to debates about institutional design in general, including societies where ethnic or religious divisions are not at the heart of the political game, but where significant minorities need to be accommodated and reassured of their status as part of the society. Just like in representation theory, skeptic voices about political systems built upon explicit group politicization have been heard. The best known among them is probably the voice of Donald Horowitz who has argued that instead of institutionalizing ethnic differences, political systems in divided societies should strive to disperse the conflict, create incentives for coalition-making and give higher weight to interest-politics (Horowitz 1985, 597-600). He also argued elsewhere that the consociationlists put too much trust into the elites and underestimate the complexity of electoral politics (Horowitz, 2002).

Benjamin Reilly has evaluated Horowitz's alternative proposition (the "centripetalist" model) as deserving of more attention than it has gotten, but also as having limited utility that depends on features of a particular case (Reilly 2001, 192). Reilly's conclusion is all the more true in those cases where a group in need of special attention or protection makes up a comparatively small part of a society. In those cases, the precision of group representation mechanisms typical of consociational regimes seems more applicable than the Horowitzian insistence on non-specific treatment. I will therefore in the course of my analysis leave aside considerations about appropriateness of special mechanisms in general, and will focus on

specific instances where a decision has already been made that such a mechanism should be used.

The study of group representation in the "less divided" countries that I am focusing on has been somewhat lacking both in amount and in rigor when compared to the interest directed at deeply divided societies. Studies focusing on ethnic minorities and minority representation often take into account only the basic structure of the relevant institutions, such as the type of electoral system. For example, Pippa Norris (2004, 209-229) analyzed the support for political institutions in twelve countries with significant minorities, but had herself recognized a limitation in her findings stemming from the fact that some of these countries implement special group representation measures which she has not accounted for. Even when existence of special mechanisms is fully acknowledged, it is usually not fully explored. Bochsler (2011) and Bernauer and Bochsler (2011) have studied the determinants of ethnic party success in post-communist countries. They recognize the importance of possible special features of the electoral system, but generalize them under terms such as "quotas and non-territorial districts" (Bochsler 2011, 221) or simply admit that the effect of electoral rules might be underestimated due to the diversity of their effects (Bernaur and Bochsler 2011, 746). Similarly, working with a wider scope of cases, Didier Ruedin (2009) had explored among other things the influence of special mechanisms on ethnic minority representation in parliaments. His operationalization of the special measure variable also includes no intracategory variation. Ruedin finds that on average this variable has little effect, but also notes that the conclusion is highly dependent on case-to-case differences concerning the way the special mechanism is implemented in terms of group inclusiveness and varying levels of proportionality (Ruedin 2009, 348).

Part of the reason for the lack of specificity in these studies probably lies in the lack of systematic data on group representation mechanisms, as case studies focusing on one or

6

several cases generally being the norm in the field (e.g. Alionescu 2004; Bird 2005; Geddis 2006), with Daniel Bochsler's (2006) area study being an important exemption. This has been changing, however, and a few scholars have recently surveyed a larger number of countries. The primary example is Andrew Reynolds' rather comprehensive survey of minority representation mechanisms conducted in 2006 for Minority Rights Group International (MRGI). Reynolds identifies six wide categories of special provisions: reserved communal seats, electoral system modifications, power-sharing settlements, over-representation of ethnically defined regions, race-conscious districting and colonial regimes providing for minority representation - the latter being only a historical, no longer existent category (Reynolds, 2006). It seems though, that his categorization is based on multiple criterions, some of which are overlapping. For example, the result of Lebanese Christian-Muslim settlement is classified as an instance of electoral system modification. Similarly, the ethnolinguistic distribution of seats in the Senate of Belgium is considered an example of reserved communal seats. Yet, both these cases are routinely given as examples of power-sharing regimes in the literature on consociational theory (Lijphart 1977; 2008; Hudson 1976; Russell and Shehadi 2005) and their categorizations therefore remains ambiguous indicating the need for further examination.

More recently, a report concerning the same topic has been produced by Oleh Protsyk based on data from a survey of national legislatures conducted by Inter-Parliamentary Union and United Nations Development Program in 2009 as part of "Promoting Inclusive Parliaments" project (IPU 2009). One part of the survey consisted of a questionnaire which was sent to parliaments worldwide asking directly about minority representatives and means of their election. By analyzing the resulting data, Protsyk (2010) has identified five general categories of special electoral measures: reserved seats, exemptions from electoral thresholds, quotas, minority-sensitive demarcation of constituency boundaries and appointments. This categorization is certainly more straightforward and clear-cut then that of Reynolds, but it also carries less information. Additionally, due to the self-administered nature of the survey the data contained some important ambiguities. Many parliaments provided an affirmative answer when asked about the existence of special measures, but failed to support that claim with any further information. Protsyk contends some of those positive answers should be taken as declarations of support for such measures, rather than indicating their actual existence. For these reasons, it is necessary that the survey-type data like the kind produced by IPU and UNDP's project be supplemented with direct expert analysis.

#### 2.2. Purpose and plan for the study

One indicator of interest for the kind of research proposed here is that Reynolds' and Protsyk's work has been produced at request of organizations whose primary mission is improvement of democracy, representation and protection of minorities. European Centre for Minority Issues has also been involved in similar projects (ECMI 2011), just like the Venice Commission which has produced a series of valuable reports on the status of electoral legislation concerning minority representation in European countries (Venice Commission 2000; 2004; 2008). This thriving activity that surrounds minority representation today only confirms the need for even more and more in-depth study of this topic. Of course, parliamentary representation is but one aspect of minority representation; however, it is an aspect that is absolutely indispensable for a better understanding of the issue.

To address that need, this paper will take up where Reynolds and Protsyk have left off, and will delve deeper into the workings of particular cases with the eventual goal of integrating the pieces into a bigger picture. The goal is to improve our knowledge of possibilities for group representation by identifying more precisely the detailed modes of implementation for the different mechanisms and their associated trade-offs, thereby addressing the need for systematization that seems to appear in both academic and policy-making circles.

A simple small-N comparative method will be used, inspired by a strand of electoral system literature exemplified by voluminous collections like the ones compiled and analyzed by Shugart and Wattenberg (2001) or Gallagher and Mitchell (2005). These authors have succeeded in producing valuable results by taking a comprehensive, rather than reductive approach to electoral systems and embracing the full spectrum of exiting variations that tend to get lost in less in-depth studies. I attempt to do the same here, on a smaller scale. I take the categories produced by previous works (such as that of Reynolds) as indicators, rather than complete descriptions of the actual electoral mechanisms at work. Consequently, I approach each case as a separate entity, looking at the details specific to a particular design, only to finally emerge back to a higher level of generality and try to make sense of the variety at the lower level.

# **3.** An empirical survey: group representation around the world

Group representation can take various forms, including power-sharing, legislative and executive reservations, appointments etc. The goal of this section will therefore be to distil those cases that will be most conductive for producing a contribution to the already substantial literature.

Hierarchically, the most important distinction should be made between those systems where balancing of group power is the primary feature, and those where group politics are not in the center of the political game. This differentiation is most explicit with Mona Lena Krook and Diana Z. O'Brien who identify two main modes of group reservations: power-sharing arrangements and protection clauses - where the former are understood to affect the entire political system, whereas the latter mean "allocating seats to groups which constitute a relatively small contingent within the population" (Krook and O'Brien 2010, 262). In the context of this study I will primarily be interested in the latter category. Power-sharing systems will be excluded since these are the cases that have already been the subject of vast amount of literature, and also because there is a fundamental qualitative difference between systems that are explicitly grounded in group politics, and those where propositions for group representation are made on the basis of justice and desire to protect the underprivileged, rather than on the basis of survival of the system itself.

I will therefore be looking at countries who have implemented in their electoral systems a "special mechanism" – a clause in the electoral law which allows minority candidates (or parties) to compete for seats in the legislature according to a different or a separate set of rules

than the candidates from the majority population. Practices that go around the existing rules rather than modify them are not considered as "special mechanisms". I think here first and foremost of race conscious districting typical for the United States. Although this is obviously a case of fostered minority representation, in terms of electoral system it is just make-do patchwork.

Having these criteria in mind, a cross-comparison of several available datasets was conducted. These included the IPU PARLINE database, the "Election Guide" of the International Foundation for Electoral Systems (IFES), data from the Venice Commission reports (2000; 2004) and information from the literature reviewed in the previous chapter. Only lower houses of parliaments were taken into consideration. The process produced a list of 22 countries where measures have been implemented into the electoral system with explicit purpose of providing protection and representation for particular minority groups. The countries are as follows: Afghanistan, Colombia, Croatia, Germany, India, Iraq, Jordan, Kosovo, Mauritius, Montenegro, New Zealand, Niger, Pakistan, the Philippines, Poland, Romania, Samoa, Serbia, Singapore, Slovenia, Taiwan, and Venezuela.

Countries that were considered for inclusion, but were ultimately rejected include Cyprus where reserved seats for the Turkish community remain vacant due to the ongoing Greeko-Turkish conflict (IPU 2012). In Belgium, Bosnia-Herzegovina and Ethiopia reservations exist only in the upper houses of their respective parliaments. Some countries like Angola, Croatia or Colombia reserve seats for representatives of their citizens living abroad. Although these are empirically interesting cases, they nevertheless represent a separate issue in terms of definition of the eligible voters and means through which they are allowed to vote. The main challenge of creating a separate mechanism for representation of a group living within the country is absent in the case of diaspora voters, since there is a clear and physical criterion which differentiates persons present in the country and those who reside abroad. Finally,

Lebanon was excluded as a case of a system-wide arrangement, rather than a special arrangement targeted at a particular group.

Provisions regarding representation of women were considered only in situations when they were related or combined with reservations for minority groups. Conclusions of Mala Htun's illuminating text titled "Is Gender like Ethnicity?" (2004) were followed in this regard. Htun accentuates the difference between political mobilization of women and ethnic minorities. She concludes that two groups differ fundamentally insofar as women represent a "crosscutting" group, meaning they are about evenly spread on all sides of the main political cleavages, whereas ethnic minorities typically manifest features of a "coinciding" group – one whose political affiliations coincide with the dominant political cleavages governing a country's party system (Htun 2004, 411). Furthermore, the question of women representation has already been thoroughly explored by other authors (Ballington and Karam 2005; Krook 2009; Krook and Mackay 2011), while more light needs to be shed on the cases of ethnic, religious and similar reservations.

This Chapter will proceed by presenting all of the 22 selected cases. A case by case approach was chosen because it allows for analysis of details that cannot be efficiently conveyed through condensed presentation of data as it exists in the currently available sources. Multiple primary sources and case studies and reports were used to create complete pictures of what group representation mechanisms look like in each country, with strong accent of variations between cases. An overview table of the findings and a summary of the main points is available at the end of the chapter.

#### 3.1. Afghanistan

Under the patronage of international forces and as part of the country's transition from an authoritarian regime to a democracy, more attention has been given in recent years to proper representation of unprivileged groups in the Afghan society. The electoral law currently governing the elections to the lower house of the Afghan parliament (the Wolesi Jirga) provides reservations for two such groups: women and Kuchis, the latter being nomadic Pashtun people native to Afghanistan and Pakistan.

In elections to Wolesi Jirga, single non-transferable vote is used to elect 239 members in 34 multi-member districts corresponding to the 34 provinces of Afghanistan. On top of that 10 Kuchi representatives are elected in a nationwide district, also utilizing the SNTV system (Electoral Law, Art. 9 and 19). No special requirement is necessary for a voter to vote in the special district. A requirement for candidature is set, commanding prospective candidates to submit 1000 signatures of Kuchi people together with their nomination. To facilitate the voting of Kuchis, the Electoral Commission is obligated under law to provide special voting facilities for the nomadic people (Electoral Law, Art. 14).

An interesting peculiarity of the Afghan system arises with respect to the distribution of 68 seats reserved for women. The seats are to be allocated to the best faring female candidates in each of the constituencies, including three seats out of the ten reserved for Kuchis. The Afghan electoral system therefore features a doubly imposed reservation where ten seats are reserved for a socio-ethnic group<sup>1</sup> and further seats out of these ten are reserved for female candidates (IPU 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The adjective "ethnic" should be understood in a very lose sense in this instance. Strictly speaking, the Kuchi people are a sub-group of the Pashtun ethnic group, but they have over time acquired elements of both social and ethnic distinction (MRGI 2012).

#### 3.2. Colombia

Under Article 176 of Colombian Constitution of 1991 a possibility was provided for creation of special electoral districts to elect up to five deputies to the country's Chamber of Representatives in order to represent "ethnic groups and political minorities and Colombians residing abroad". This provision was amended in 2003 so that the vague expression is substituted for exact enumeration of the groups concerned and seats reserved for each: two representatives are to be elected by Afro-Colombians, one by indigenous Indians, and one by Colombians living abroad. Prior to the 2003 changes to the Constitution an additional seat was reserved for a member elected by "other minorities" (Jaramillo and Franco-Cuervo 2005, 303). The current four reserved seats are filled using a simple plurality rule in a nationwide district, while the rest of 161 members of the House are elected through proportional representation in 33 uneven multi-member districts.

#### 3.3. Croatia

The current electoral system for elections of representative to Croatian parliament features ten territorial constituencies, each returning 14 representatives by means of a proportional formula with a 5% legal threshold of representation. In addition, the electoral system features two additional electoral districts: the eleventh electoral district for Croatian citizens who do not reside on the territory of Republic of Croatia and the special twelfth nationwide electoral district with reserved seats for national minorities.

A total of eight seats are awarded in the special district, but with further reservations for various minority groups: three seats are reserved for Serbs, one seat for Hungarians, one for Italians, one for Czechs and Slovaks together, one for Albanians, Bosniaks, Montenegrins, Macedonians and Slovenes together, and one for Austrians, Bulgarians, Germans, Poles, Roma, Romanians, Rusyns (Ruthenians), Russians, Turks, Ukrainians, Vlachs and Jews together. Simple plurality rule is used to determine the winners separately for each of the minorities and minority groups as listed above, including the three Serb representatives. For all intents and purposes the special electoral district therefore in fact represents six nationwide districts – five single member districts and one three-member district.

In 2010 amendments to the Croatian Electoral Law called for double voting rights to be introduced for members of the Serb national minority, an option that was explicitly allowed for in the Constitution but was not activated under Electoral Law. The new provision would allow Serbian parties to run for secure reserved seats while simultaneously running a list in the general part of the elections and having a chance of winning seats on both accounts by virtue of Serb voters casting two votes. The Independent Serbian Democratic Party (SDSS) which has since 2000 won every seat reserved for Serbs and which was a pivotal member of the governing coalition in 2010, has already introduced the practice of running their list in one of the general election districts where Serbian population is the largest, but has never managed to win a seat due to the 5% threshold. It has come very close to crossing the required threshold on two occasions, however, and in the event that double voting rights were instituted it would almost certainly win at least one additional seat on top of the three reserved ones.

However, before the provisions of the new Electoral Law could be put to test in elections of late 2011, the Constitutional Court of Croatia has declared them in breach of the Constitution due to unequal treatment of the Serb minority *vis-à-vis* other ethnic minorities who were not

granted the same double voting rights<sup>2</sup>. The Court ordered that the old provisions be reinstated until the parliament modifies the Law in accordance with the Constitution. The above described model of minority representation was therefore used again in 2011 elections. A new center-left government was installed, this time without direct involvement of SDSS and a new electoral law has as of yet not been enacted, although it has been announced that it is in the making.

#### 3.4. Germany

A single case of a country where a special measure exists but was never put to action is Germany. The lower house of parliament, the Bundestag, is elected through a mixed member proportional electoral system combining single member districts with a proportional tier where seats are allotted to parties which surpass a 5% threshold at the national level or manage to win three SMD seats. However, Article 6 of the Federal Electoral Law exempts parties representing national minorities from the legal thresholds, allowing them to win seats in the proportional tier only based on their actual proportion of votes. Further articles (20 and 27) of the same law also exempt minority parties from requirements regarding submission of signatures with candidate and list nominations.

According to a report submitted to the Venice Commission by the German government, the exemption clause has never played a role in the elections on the federal level. However, since provisions of the federal law have been mimicked in electoral laws of the German federal Lander, minorities such as the Danish and Sorbian communities have won seats in land

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In other words, the Court did not question the constitutionality of double voting rights themselves, but rather ruled that if double voting rights are to be introduced, they must be introduced for members of all ethnic minorities. For a different version of an objection to dual voting rights see Slovenia below.

parliaments – seats that they would not have won had they not been exempted from the legal threshold. According to the same report, the German law recognizes only certain "traditional" minorities as eligible for benefits of the threshold exemption. Apart from the Danes and the Sorbs, these minorities also include Frisians, Sinti and Roma (Venice Commission 2004, 10-11). The practical significance of the later clause is that immigrant communities of which there is substantial population in Germany cannot make claims to representation through the special mechanism.

#### **3.5. India**

The world's most populous democracy - India - employs what has been termed a "remarkable system of reservation" (Heath, Glouharova and Heath 2005, 138) designed to boost the representation of disadvantaged or "depressed" groups in the Indian rigid social system. The reservations were first established in 1935 by the Government of India Act as temporary measures, but have been preserved ever since in India's constitutional and electoral law, albeit with multiple changes to the system taking place over time. Today, a total of 120 out of 543 elected representatives in the lower house (the Lok Sabha) of India's bicameral legislature are designated for Scheduled Tribes (the *adivasi* – the non Hindu tribes) and Scheduled Castes (the *dalit*).

What makes India a special case in terms of minority reservations is the fact that the reserved seats are in other aspects not very much unlike any other seat. A simple first-past-the-post system with territorial single member districts is used for elections to the Lok Sabha and it is in fact some of those districts that get reserved for Scheduled Tribes and Castes. From reserved districts (determined by the state delimitation commissions) only members of particular disadvantaged group can be elected into the parliament as district representatives.

However, the representatives are not elected exclusively by the members of their caste or tribe, but rather by the whole population of the reserved district. Members of Scheduled Castes typically make up less than one quarter of a reserved district's population, while for Scheduled Tribes, who are more geographically concentrated, the population share is usually around one half (Heath, Glouharova and Heath 2005).

#### **3.6. Iraq**

Council of Representatives of Iraq is elected according to the Election Law as amended in 2010 which prescribes that out of the 325 seats in the Council of Representatives (the lower chamber of a bicameral parliament) a total of 8 seats are reserved for minorities: 5 for Christians, 1 for Yzidi, 1 for Shabeans and 1 for Shabak.

According to the detailed rules produced by Independent High Electoral Commission (IHEC) based on the Electoral Law, the allocation of seats proceeds as follows: 310 non-minority seats are allocated to parties competing in 18 multi-member districts corresponding to the country's 18 governorates. A legal threshold is applied in each of the districts and is equal to the ratio of valid votes cast and seats available in the particular district. Seats are distributed proportionally at the level of each district to lists surpassing the threshold, and subsequently awarded to the best faring candidates on the winning lists (open lists with one preference vote are used). Reserved seats for Christians are allocated in the same way, except the threshold and the quota are calculated based only on the votes cast for Christian lists in the entire country. In addition to that, each of the 5 seats reserved for Christians is linked to a particular governorate (one seat each for Baghdad, Ninewa, Kirkuk, Dahuk and Erbil) and is part of a particular governorate's overall quota of legislative seats. For this reason all of the winners for Christian seats must be registered in different governorates. If this is not the case with the best

ranked candidates of the winning lists then allocation is adjusted by awarding seats to candidates with less preferential votes, or even to other lists, until the pre-determined geographical apportionment of the reserved seats is satisfied.

For the other three groups (Yzidi, Shabeans and Shabak) winners are determined based on the simple plurality rule in separate single member constituencies. These seats are also linked to particular governorates, but voters can vote for them throughout the country. Finally, after the 318 seats have been awarded as described, the remainder of 7 "compensatory" seats are allocated to parties based on the proportion of seats they have already won (IHEC 2010; UNAMI 2010).

Compared to other cases of reserved seats, Iraq's system is interesting in so far as the seats are won nationally by lists of candidates, but are eventually allocated locally – into particular governorates. This is an important innovation for situations when within confines of a proportional electoral system more than one seat needs to be allocated to a geographically dispersed minority, but with some degree of geographical representation also taken into account. The drawback is, of course, the fact that parties may actually lose seats if their candidates are not registered in the right districts.

#### 3.7. Jordan

Even though elections in the Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan lack some of the basic features of democratic competition, they nevertheless feature such provisions as reserved seats for ethnic and religious minorities as well as for women (Dietrich 2001; Sweiss 2005). The reservations are built into the electoral system for the lower house of the parliament – the Majlis al-Nuwaa, with nine seats reserved for Christians, nine for Bedouins and three for Circassians and

Chechens together. The latest changes to the electoral law in 2010 did not change the provisions regarding ethnic and religious reservations, although the size of the lower chamber was increased from 110 to 120 seats.

Seats are not reserved in the same way for all of the three groups, however. The nomad Bedouin tribes elect their representatives in three districts, each encompassing one of the three Bedouin-inhabited areas (north, centre and south). Christians and Circassians/Chechens, on the other hand, vote within the same multi-member districts as the general population. In both Bedouin and general constituencies representatives are elected by single non-transferable vote, with minority candidates being prioritized for election in those districts where there are reserved seats (Sweiss 2005).

#### 3.8. Kosovo

The structure of the Assembly of the Republic of Kosovo is laid down in the Article 64 of 2008 Kosovo Constitution. Of the 120 seats in the Assembly, 20 are reserved for minority ethnic groups according to the following distribution: 10 seats are reserved for representatives of the Serb community, three seats are awarded to the Bosniak community, two seats to the Turkish community, one seat to the Gorani community and one seat is reserved for each Roma, Ashkali and Egyptian community. Finally, one additional seat is awarded to either Roma, Ashkali or Egyptians, depending on the electoral performance of their respective parties.

The details of the electoral rules for distribution of seats are prescribed in the Law on General Elections in the Republic of Kosovo. Both minority and Albanian parties compete in a single nationwide electoral district with all lists being printed on the same ballot paper. The first one

hundred seats are awarded to all parties based on a 5% legal threshold and a proportional formula (the Saint-Lague method). Only then are the twenty additional seats awarded to the parties representing the minority communities, irrespective of any seats that these parties might have already won in the allocation of the first hundred seats. The same proportional formula is used, but without the legal threshold. In order to be eligible to win seats under the special provision, competitors need to indicate their communal affiliation when applying for certification by the Central Election Commission (in which some positions are also reserved for minorities) prior to the elections. Voters are not required to register as members of minorities as all the lists are printed on a single ballot and available to any voter anywhere in the country.

#### **3.9.** Mauritius

The island Republic of Mauritius is a social highly heterogeneous former British colony that features an electoral system whose obvious roots are in the Westminster model, but with a proportional twist of a very particular nature. The country's rather majoritarian electoral system features 20 three-seat districts and one two-seat district with representatives elected by single non-transferable vote. However, according to the First Schedule of the Constitution of Mauritius (Art. 3 to 5), following the allocation of the directly elected seats, a maximum of eight additional parliamentary seats are to be allotted with the explicit purpose of ensuring "fair and adequate representation of each community" – the four Mauritian communities being Hindus, Muslims, Sino-Mauritians and the General Population (mostly made up of French-speaking European and African descended persons).

Every candidate submitting an official nomination for a seat in the parliament must indicate to which of the four Mauritian communities he or she belongs (Constitution, First Schedule Art.

3.4). This information is then made public and is subject to revision by the Supreme Court should an elector object to a candidate's declared communal membership. Once the election results are in, the additional seats are awarded on a "best loser" and communitarian principles to candidates who must be members of a political party.

The allocation itself is performed by Electoral Supervisory Commission after each election so that the first four seats are granted to those unelected candidates belonging to communities whose ratio of population<sup>3</sup> and seats is the least favorable, and who have, although defeated, won the highest percentage of votes in their district. The calculation determining the most underrepresented community is repeated after each awarded seat.

The next four seats are allocated based on a somewhat modified set of rules. First the "most successful party" is determined – this is the party which had won a plurality of the 62 directly contested seats. If during the allocation of the first four seats some seats had gone to parties other than the most successful one, then the most successful party is entitled to a number of seats equal to the number that went to their rivals. These seats will be awarded to candidates of the most successful party that belong to the most under-represented community if there are such candidates. If not, then the seats will simply go to the best loser running under the banner of the most successful party.

Finally, in case there are any seats still left unallocated, these will be reserved for parties that have so far not received any of the additional seats, so that the best fairing candidate of such party who belongs to the currently most under-represented community is elected. A party may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In 1982 the unitarist anti-communal government elected with a landslide 100% victory removed the census category of "communities" from the legal system of Mauritius. Census data was therefore no longer collected about voters' communal affiliation, but the compensatory mechanism was not removed from the electoral system due to protest from some of the community-based organizations. Instead, the Constitution was amended to explicitly state that census data from 1972 will be used in calculation of the worst standing community. However, this decision has not resulted in a strong distortion of the compensatory effects, as the population shares of the Mauritian communities have proved to be quite stable over time (Mathur 1997, 61, 75).

only receive one seat in this way. In the event that some of the eight seats remain undistributed, then most successful parties that have not received any of the additional seats are prioritized for further allocation, but they can only receive seats if one of their candidates belongs to the currently most underrepresented community (First Schedule of the Constitution of Mauritius, Art. 5). Finally, if still not all of the eight seats are filled, further seats will be awarded to candidates of the second most successful party, the third most successful party and so forth, again, provided the candidate belongs to the most underrepresented community. It is possible that some of the seats remain unfilled if there are no candidates left fulfilling both the party- and community-based criteria.

There are two important points to recognize in this arrangement. First, under these provisions none of the four Mauritian communities is considered as endangered a priori. Rather, any community which at some point becomes underrepresented will benefit from the attribution of additional seats. The second point, which is sorely missing from the existing accounts which make mention of the case of Mauritius (Reynolds 2006; Htun 2004), is that not all of the 8 seats are necessarily reserved for the under-represented communities. The provision governing the distribution of the second round of compensatory seats makes sure they are allocated in a way that *could* increase the proportionality of community representation, but not necessarily so. In truth, the primary function of the second four-seat allocation is to maintain the balance of power created by the popular vote. By prescribing that some additional seats must go to the strongest party even if that does not bolster balanced communal representation, the designers of the Mauritian constitution have made it almost impossible that the allocation of the compensatory seats to "best losers" results in legislative majority being transferred from one party to another. This was a compromise solution between ethnically based anti-independence parties and majoritarian-oriented proindependence parties at the time preceding Mauritius' independence from the British Crown (Krennerich 1999, 605-606). The final product is a unique example of an electoral system which boosts proportionality of communities, while remaining highly majoritarian in terms of seat shares for parties.

#### 3.10. Montenegro

The electoral system used for parliamentary elections in Montenegro is a proportional representation system with a nationwide constituency and a 3% threshold. Although ethnic composition of the Republic of Montenegro is rather heterogeneous (including populous Serbian and Bosniak minorities as well as a smaller Croat minority), special electoral mechanisms exist only for the representation of the Albanian minority, while the other ethnicities are represented by their respective parties elected in the regular part of the elections. The same features (PR in at-large district and 3% threshold) are used in the special five-seat constituency (increased from 4 in 2006) for the Albanian minority, but with voting rights available only to persons registered as residents in one of the localities designated prior to each elections by an act of Assembly of Montenegro (Electoral Law, Art 12, 118). In comparative perspective, this makes Montenegro a rare case (next to Iraq) of reserved seats being allocated in a multi-member district with proportional representation.

#### 3.11. New Zealand

Special provisions guaranteeing Maori representation in the parliament of New Zealand are probably among the most known and most cited such examples in the world. However, the current version of the Maori reservations represent only the latest incarnation of a tradition that began in 1867 when the Maori Representation Act introduced four Maori seats into the New Zealand Parliament - a number that was at the time grossly at odds with the much higher proportion of Maori people living in New Zealand (Banducci, Donovan and Karp 2004, 536; Geddis 2006, 352-353). During the following 150 years many changes to those provisions would gradually result in amelioration of the political inequalities between the European settlers and the indigenous population. This trend was reflected in the positions of the New Zealand Royal Commission on the Electoral System whose 1986 report would be the basis of the country's now famous mixed electoral system enacted in 1993. "Effective Maori representation" was one of the key criteria used by the Commission in drafting its recommendations (The Royal Commission 1986, 11).

Interestingly, the Commission did not recommend the special Maori districts. Instead, its recommendation was based on the idea that MMP would be enough to secure Maori representation through the proportional tier. Consistent with the Commission's draft, the 1993 mixed electoral system features two tiers: the first with single member districts and plurality rule, and the second with a nationwide district and proportional allocation of seats. The size of the parliament is fixed at 120 in principle but overhang seats are possible. The distribution of seats between the SMD and the proportional tier is changeable (see below). Voters have two votes, one to cast for a candidate in their district and one to cast for a party list (Vowels 2005). Departure from the Commission's recommendations is the fact that there are two electoral rolls: the general roll and the Maori roll. Registration on the latter is optional, provided a person can demonstrate any degree of Maori origin. Voters enrolled on the Maori roll gain the option of casting their first (candidate) vote in one of the special Maori single member districts, while they cast their second vote in the nationwide district just like the voters on the general roll. The number and boundaries of Maori districts are determined based on the same population quota as for the general electorate districts, with the relevant Maori population figure being the number of voters registered on the Maori roll. This recalculation is performed prior to every election and following a four month Maori Electoral Option period during which voters are given the opportunity to switch between the Maori and the general rolls (Electoral Act 1993). Since 1993 the number of voters registered on the Maori rolls has increased and so the number of Maori seats has also grown from five in 1996 to the current count of seven (Geddis 2006, 356; IPU 2012).

The unique appeal of the New Zealand system consists in its ability to seamlessly integrate the reserved seats for Maori voters. Unlike in some other cases, no unevenness of votes is induced, nor is the principle of geographical representation surrendered.

#### 3.12. Niger

After a period of political and social turmoil, Niger has adopted a new Constitution and a new Electoral Law in 2010. Just as in the previous incarnations of Niger's electoral system, a provision was enshrined in these laws which allowed for creation of special minority electoral districts next to the eight multi-member regional districts for general elections to the unicameral National Assembly of Niger.

For the 2011 elections eight such special districts were created with one seat each and representatives elected by plurality (IPU 2012). Although the law remains unspecific as to the precise assignment of the "special districts", their effective purpose is to provide representation for the Tuareg ethnic group which makes up between 9 and 10 percent of the country's population and has for long been in conflict with the central government due to the group's feelings of marginalization (Basedau 1999, 678).

#### 3.13. Pakistan

The Islamic Republic of Pakistan belongs to the category of countries reserving seats on religious basis. As per the Constitution of Pakistan (Art. 51), 10 seats are reserved for non-Muslim minorities in the lower house of the Parliament. Since 2002, however, the voting for and allocation of these seats is no longer separate from the allocation of other seats to the National Assembly. Rather, the seats for non-Muslims, as well as 60 seats for women, are allocated to parties in accordance to the proportion of seats they have already won by contesting elections in 272 single-member districts (Election Commission of Pakistan, 2008). Prior to 2002, non-Muslim representatives have been elected by plurality in two four-seat districts (one for Christians and one for Hindus), and two single member districts (one for Ahmadis and one for Sikhs, Buddhist, Parsi and other non-Muslims taken together) (Zingel 2001, 670). The change in the electoral law has introduced serious doubts about the democratic nature of this aspect of the new electoral rules as it approaches effective disenfranchisement of the non-Muslim population. In the last elections of 2008, the representatives elected to fill the reserved minority seats came from the four most successful parties, including MPs from the conservative Pakistan Muslim League of Nawaz Sharif.

# CEU eTD Collection

#### **3.14.** The Philippines

In March 1995 the previously entirely majoritarian Philippine electoral system has been amended with provisions for election of minority group representatives through a proportionally based electoral mechanism. The new provision was enacted pursuant to the thus far dormant provision of the 1987 Philippine Constitution, but due to the odd, imprecise and conflicting rules introduced, this mechanism will arguably become one of the most contested such provisions in the world. The new 1995 "Party-List System Act" defined the rules for election of 20% of representatives to the lower House of Congress (The House of Representatives) from the ranks of "Filipino citizens belonging to the marginalized and underrepresented sectors, organizations and parties" through a party-list proportional system (COMELEC 1995). The Constitution itself enumerates the intended beneficiaries of this provision: "labor, peasant, urban poor, indigenous cultural communities, women, youth, and such other sectors as may be provided by law, except the religious sector" (Art. 6, Sec. 5).

In the three legislative mandates between 1987 and 1995, the proposed representatives of the marginalized groups were appointed by the president, sometimes with no particular regard as to what their backgrounds or political stances were with regards to the groups they were to represent (Wurfel 1997, 21). The Act of 1995 should therefore be viewed as an attempt to activate a dormant legal provision in hopes of increasing the perceived deficient quality of democracy in the Philippines (Teehankee 2002, 180). Its failure to do so has been evident from the very beginning, however. In his 1997 detailed analysis of the Act, David Wurfel identified two major defects in the final version of the Act: the redundant categorization of participants into national parties, regional parties, sectoral parties and coalitions, and the failure to implement the prohibition of participation by major parties (the five largest ones) which was in any case made only temporary (Wurfel 1997, 22-23). The two defects effectively defeated the purpose of the Act since without being able to differentiate between the organizations representing the marginalized groups and sectors from the national parties and without being able to go around that problem by barring the largest parties from the competition, the proportional part of the elections would cease to be a mechanism for representation of minorities and simply became a second tier in a two-tier electoral system.

Nevertheless, the Party-List System Act was implemented in the 1998 elections and immediately new issues have arisen with regards to the calculation of the seats to be awarded

in the proportional section of the elections. Section 11 of the Act stipulates that parties winning at least 2% of the nationwide vote for the party-lists (as the voters were given two votes – one for the lists and one for candidates in single member districts) would be awarded one seat immediately and further seats in accordance to the proportion of the garnered votes, but provided that no list shall win more than 3 seats. The proportionality clause has been interpreted by the Commission on Elections (COMELEC) as meaning that an additional seat will be awarded for every additional 2% of the votes won (Hartmann, Hassall and Santos 2001, 196). This decision strengthened the possibility that not all of the 20% of seats constitutionally reserved for parties in the proportional section of the elections would be filled – a possibility which was opened by the combination of the 2% threshold with the 3 seat cap. Indeed, in 1998 only 13 out of maximum 52 seats were distributed (IPU 2012). The idea of representing the marginalized groups of the Philippine society has therefore failed both in the procedural aspect of the legislation and in the practical aspect of the elections.

The failure was mirrored in suits filed to the Supreme Court of the Philippines by several parties against the COMELEC in 2000, and again in 2007. Both times the parties have sued on the grounds that the proportionality principle has not been upheld. In 2000, the Supreme Court ruled that the applied rules for allocation of seats were inconsistent with the 2% percent threshold and the principle of proportionality. It has ordered a modification in the rules so that the seats subsequently be calculated by awarding between 1 and 3 seats to the strongest party, 1 seat to any party crossing the 2% threshold, and finally awarding additional seats to parties depending on the ratio between the votes they have won and the votes the strongest party has won within the proportional tier (Supreme Court of the Philippines 2000).

The Supreme Court's decision in the other case, filed against COMELEC by Barangay Association for National Advancement and Transparency (BANAT) in 2007 was much more radical. In 2009 the Court ruled the 2% threshold unconstitutional as it prevented the

appropriate number of seats (20%) to be filled proportionally in accordance with the Constitution (Supreme Court of the Philippines, 2009). The results of the 2007 elections were therefore recalculated and additional deputies were elected into the House of Representatives mid-term and according to a new formula prescribed by the Court which was also to be used in the subsequent elections.

As unfortunate as it is, the incredible disarray surrounding the Philippine provision for representation of minority groups provides valuable lessons for lawmakers and institutional designers in other countries. First, the long and extremely heterogeneous list of constitutionally recognized marginalized groups made it almost impossible to discern the legitimate contenders for election under the special rules. As a consequence, the Supreme Court has repeatedly been forced to deal with cases regarding who can, and who cannot become a representative of a marginalized groups and which groups are to be considered marginalized. No definite criteria have arise as a result of the suits.

Second, the failure of the Philippine lawmakers to harmonize and appropriately specify the details of the electoral and constitutional rules underscores the importance of cross-country learning and appropriate amount of academic input when electoral system design is in question. Confusion and ignorance on part of Congress and COMELEC members and staff is cited by Wurfel (1997, 24-25) as one of the prime reasons for poor performance of the 1995 Party-List System Act.

#### 3.15. Poland

The 460 representatives to the Polish Sejm are elected in 41 multi-member districts with magnitudes between 7 and 19, with thresholds are applied for vote aggregates nationwide.

However, much like for Germany's Bundestag, the legal thresholds (5% for parties, 8% for coalitions) are abolished for lists of national minorities. Unlike in Germany, the exemption from the threshold has been a relevant provision in Poland, facilitating the parliamentary representation of the German minority. The capacity of the German list to win seats has, however, reduced over time with its candidates winning only one seat in the two latest elections (in 2007 and 2011) after having two seats between 1997 and 2005, four seats in 1993 and seven seats in 1991. Other minorities in Poland, of which Ukrainians, Belarusians and Armenians are numerically the most significant ones, have so far not fielded minority lists in elections to the parliament.

#### 3.16. Romania

Ever since the first democratic elections following the collapse of the Romanian communist regime in 1989, the electoral system for elections to the Romanian Parliament's lower house - Chamber of Deputies, has included a special measure fostering minority representation (Birch *et al.* 2002, Alionescu 2004). Even though Romania has seen both a number of minor changes to the electoral law as well as a large overhaul from proportional to mixed system in 2002, the provisions governing election of minority representatives have remained virtually unchanged (Protsyk and Matichescu 2010).

Under the previous electoral system (in effect from 1990 to 2002) all non-minority deputies were elected using a proportional formula in 42 regional constituencies, while in the reformed post-2004 mixed member proportional system all seats are first contested in single member districts with an absolute majority requirement, before the unallocated seats together with the

votes of all candidates are polled at the national level for proportional distribution to parties and coalitions surpassing the required threshold<sup>4</sup> (Birch *et al.* 2002; IFES 2012). In both systems parties representing ethnic minorities compete together with all other parties, but in case they fail to win seats through the described electoral procedure, a special measure is activated mandating that one seat in the Chamber of Representatives will be granted to a minority party which surpasses a minimum threshold of 10% of the average number of votes needed for election of one deputy (i.e. the average vote cost of a seat) (Alionescu 2004). The special threshold was originally set at 5% of the average seat cost, but was raised to the current 10% in 2004 (Protsyk and Matichescu 2010, 34). Additionally, the law prescribes that only one party "referring in its name to the same ethnic group" may gain representation through the special mechanism (Birch *et al.* 2002, 94).

There are no predefined minority groups which may benefit from the special rules. Instead, any party may make a representative claim in the name of whichever minority it proposes to represent. Disputes arising about whether a particular party claiming to run under an ethnic label indeed represents that particular minority or whether such a minority exists at all are submitted to and resolved by the Parliament confirming or invalidating the election of individual representatives through a voting procedure (Alionecu 2004, 68). Also, since all parties are printed on the same ballot paper, any voter may vote for any ethnic party regardless of their own ethnic background (Alionescu 2004; Protsyk and Matichescu 2010).

The minimal requirements for winning a seat and a loose definition of the potential beneficiaries of the special measure, have lead to a stark increase in number of minority representatives elected into the Chamber of Representatives through the special mechanism.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A varied threshold is applied so that parties running alone need to obtain 5% of the vote nationwide, coalitions of two parties need 8%, three parties need 9%, and four or more parties need 10%. Alternatively any party or coalition takes part in the proportional allocation if it has won six single member constituencies.

The number of minority seats currently stands at 18, including representatives of minorities which account for less than 0.001 percent of the population in Romania.

## **3.17. Samoa**

The society of Pacific nation of Samoa is arranged according to a system of family relations and land ownerships, with tribal chiefs or *matai* still playing a key role in the country's politics by being the only persons eligible to become parliamentary representatives. The electorate is divided into two sections: native Samoans and "Individuals voters", the latter being persons of non-Samoan (mostly European) decent. While Samoans are registered on voter rolls in territorial districts based on their relationship to *matais* or, if that is not applicable, based on their residence (Samoa Electoral Act, Art.16), non-Samoans or individual voters are registered and vote on a nationwide electoral roll. To be eligible to register as individual voters, persons must be either of non-Samoan heritage or married to such person (Samoa Electoral Act, Art.19).

Elections are conducted in 49 districts (one or two seats each) with one of the two-seat districts being reserved for individual voters (So'o 2001, 783). Simple plurality rule is used to determine the winning candidates in all districts. Until 2010 candidates in the non-Samoan district exceptionally did not need to hold the title of *matai*, but 2010 changes to the Electoral Act (Art. 5) have prescribed that the requirement shall henceforth be applicable to all candidates in all districts.

# 3.18. Serbia

The National Assembly of the Republic of Serbia consists of 250 members elected from a single nationwide district based on a proportional formula and with a legal threshold of 5%.

Under Article 81 of the amended law, parties of ethnic minorities are, however, exempted from this requirement. The Republic Electoral Commission is in charge of certifying that a party or coalition is indeed legitimately running for elections with the goal of representing one of the ethnic minorities in Serbia.

Since the introduction of the current law in 2004, representatives of Hungarian, Bosniak, Roma and Albanian minorities have been elected to the parliament through activation of the exemption clause. After each election, however, changes have occurred with respect to the number of seats won by parties representing particular minorities. In 2007 three seats were won by Alliance of Vojvodina Hungarians, two seats by Coalition list for Sandzak (representing the Bosniak minority), one seat by the Albanian Coalition of Presevo Valley and one seat each by Roma Union of Serbia and Roma Party. The next elections were held already in 2008, following a premature dissolution of the Assembly. This time around, the Hungarian list won four seats, the Bosniak list won again two seats and Albanian list won one seat. The two Roma parties again ran separately but neither won enough votes to be granted a seat even without the threshold being applied. Other minority lists that did not garner enough votes to cross the effective threshold of representation included those representing Montenegrins, Bunjevci, Gorani and Vlach minorities, as well as another Hungarian party (IPU 2012).

# 3.19. Singapore

Singapore represents a unique case both in the design of minority-representation mechanisms and in the strength of the criticisms that have been voiced against those provisions due to large perceived benefits that they incur for the ruling party (the People's Action Party – PAP). The country's electoral system features a number of so called "Group Representation Constituencies" or GRCs wherein voters elect from 3 to 6 representatives utilizing a block vote – all the representatives from one GRC are elected as a bloc or a team from the list that has won the most individual votes. The Constitution of Singapore (Art. 39A) stipulates that at least one of the candidates on each list competing in a GRC must be a member of one of the minority communities (either Malay or "Indian and other"). The same article of the Constitution also prescribes that the designation of the districts for each of the communities is performed through the act of the President.

Since their introduction in 1988, the number of GRCs has risen steadily, with number of MPs elected from GRCs soon surpassing the number of those elected from single member districts. Currently 15 of Singapore's electoral constituencies are designated as GRCs (electing a total of 75 MPs, at least 15 of whom must belong to minorities), while only 12 are single seat districts. Nine GRCs have been designated for representation of the Malay community, while six GRCs have been reserved for representation of Indian or other minority communities (Singapore Elections Department 2012).

Rather than being necessary tools for minority representation, the existence of GRCs has long been interpreted by the opposition as a form of electoral manipulation designed to strengthen the position of Singapore's long dominant People's Action Party by allowing their more popular candidates to carry the campaign in GRCs, thereby winning multiple seats. History of elections in Singapore, their argument goes, has shown that minority candidates have been able to win in single member districts even though due to the policy housing quotas no district has for long had a non-Chinese majority, the latter being an argument put forward by the ruling party leaders in favor of GRCs (Lay Hwee 2002, 206). Apart from criticisms for electoral engineering, concerns have also been voiced about the inherent racism contained in the minority-related electoral rules, while support for the legislation by the minority groups themselves has been only partial (Mutalib 2002, 665). There is no sign, though, that the electoral law might be significantly changed as PAP continues its dominance in the political

life of Singapore, winning overwhelming majorities in every parliamentary election including the last one in 2011 when it won 81 out 87 seats with 60% of the vote. That such an outcome is being made possible by an arrangement that is in a large part presented as a minority representation mechanism serves to warn against hastened conclusions about desirability of such provisions.

## 3.20. Slovenia

With only about two million inhabitants Slovenia is home to a great variety of ethnic groups. The minority ethnic groups are commonly divided into two categories: autochthonous or historical communities and "new" or immigrant minorities (Komac 2002). The differentiation stems from the provision of the Slovenian Constitution which provides for special treatment of the minorities belonging to the first category, namely Hungarians, Italians and Roma (Constitution of Slovenia, Art 64-65). Other ethnic groups, especially those from the territory of former Yugoslavia (Albanians, Bosniaks, Croats, Macedonians, Montenegrins and Serbs<sup>5</sup>) are considered as immigrants and are therefore given no special recognition by the Constitution or the electoral laws. The same undifferentiated treatment is also applied for some other smaller non-immigrant groups, such as Germans or Austrians (Komac 2002, 13).

For two of the three autochthonous communities - Hungarians and Italians, the Constitution mandates that they "shall be directly represented [...] in the National Assembly" (Art. 64) by one deputy each (Art. 80). These two deputies are elected in nationwide districts by voters registered on communal rolls which are administered by self-governing bodies of the two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> All of which constitute a substantial number of persons living in Slovenia, comparable to or far surpassing the size of the three autochthonous communities (Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia, 2002).

minorities. The voters registered on the communal roles exercise their voting rights by casting two votes: one for election of 88 representatives in the general elections and one for the election of the representatives of their community (Komac 2002, 22-23). The elections for the general electorate are held in 8 constituencies of 11 seats each, with distribution performed according to the proportional formula. However, representatives for the two national minorities are elected using Borda count – voters assign numerical preferences to candidates which are then totaled and the candidate with the highest score is elected (IFES 2012). Additionally, the Constitution (Art. 64) stipulates that legislation concerning "the exercise of the constitutionally provided rights and the position of the national communities exclusively, may not be adopted without the consent of representatives of these national communities", thereby giving the minority representatives veto powers over any changes in their own status.

The double voting rights of minority members have been questioned on grounds of political equality. Some right wing politicians have suggested that this makes minority members citizens of higher importance than others. The question has been brought before Slovenian Constitutional Court which has ruled that the dual voting provision is not in breach of the Constitution (Komac 2002, 24).

# 3.21. Taiwan

The aboriginal people of the island of Taiwan make up about 2% of the country's population (about half a million individuals) and are the oldest group to inhabit the island. The group itself is highly heterogeneous, with thirteen officially recognized tribes (MRGI 2012) classified by law (Status Act for Indigenous Peoples) as aborigines of the lowlands and those of the highlands. The aboriginal population has for the first time been represented in Taiwan's lower chamber of parliament (The Legislative Yuan) after the 1991 constitutional amendment

has reserved for them six seats (out of the 161 total). These representatives were to be elected in two multi-member nationwide districts using the single non-transferable vote system. The number of reserved seats was raised to eight in 1997, when the chamber's size was increased to 225 members (Rinza 2001, 530-531). Finally, in 2004 the size of The Legislative Yuan (now the sole chamber of a unicameral Taiwanese parliament) was reduced to 113 members, six of which are to be elected by the indigenous population in two districts: one for the highland tribes and one for the lowland tribes. SNTV continues to be used in those districts even though the rest of the MPs are elected through a parallel system with two votes – one for candidates in single member districts (three-member districts in the case of aboriginal population) and one for party-lists in a nationwide district with 5% legal threshold (The Legislative Yuan 2012). The voting rights in the aboriginal districts are acquired through having the status of belonging to one of the indigenous communities. The status is based on family and marital ties as checked against census records kept by the local administration (Status Act for Indigenous Peoples, Sec. 2).

The most criticized feature of the Taiwanese system has been the perceived artificial and simplified distinction between the lowlands and highlands aborigines which ignores the real tribal cleavages within the groups. Concerns have been raised this may mean that the three largest tribes are more likely to be represented, while others remain marginalized<sup>6</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Taipei Economic and Cultural Representative Office in the U.S. *Experts urge reshuffle of Taiwan aboriginal legislative seats*. Press Release: 7 March 2012 http://www.roc-taiwan.org/us/ct.asp?xItem =259762&ctNode=2300&mp=12

## 3.22. Venezuela

Special representatives of indigenous peoples in Venezuela were first appointed for the 1999 Venezuelan National Constituent Assembly. The three representatives were chosen by organizations of indigenous peoples and have joined the 128 elected representatives in the Assembly (Molina and Thibaut 2005, 551). The subsequent 1999 Venezuelan Constitution included a range of provisions aimed at protecting the native peoples, including a guarantee of "native representation in the National Assembly" (Art. 125). The provision was implemented into the electoral law by reserving three parliamentary seats for indigenous communities. As of 2009, the National Assembly of Venezuela therefore consists of 165 representatives: 110 elected in constituencies with magnitude between one and three and using a majoritarian formula, 52 elected proportionally, but in small two- and four-member districts, and 3 representatives of indigenous communities (IPU 2012).

The details of the mode of election for the indigenous representatives are defined in the electoral law (*Ley Orgánica de Procesos Electorales*) under Articles 174 through 182. The three representatives are to be elected by simple plurality in three territorially defined single member districts: the West, the East and the South. To become a candidate for a representative of indigenous communities, one must fulfill four requirements: having exercised a position of traditional authority in their community, having established a record of participating in the social struggle for recognition of their cultural identity, having taken actions to benefit indigenous peoples and communities and being a member of a legally constituted organization of indigenous peoples that has been in operation for at least three years. In order to be eligible for voting in the special districts, the voters need to register as members of the indigenous communities in the official electoral register (Art. 178).

# 3.23. Overview

Upon examining the 22 cases and looking at the summary of the data in Table 1 (on next page), it seems clear that there are virtually no two implementations of special group representation mechanisms that are completely alike one another. This should not be surprising given the known complexity and diversity of the contemporary electoral systems (see for instance: Blaise and Masicotte 1996). The real task at hand will therefore be to identify the similarities and dissimilarities in the present cases that will allow me to summarize the available options in a useful way and without sacrificing precious information. The Chapter that follows offers one rather uncommon and hopefully innovative way of performing such a task, while the fifth Chapter concentrates on particular aspects of special measures, including the choice of beneficiary groups and allocation of seats to those groups.

	Beneficiary groups	Number of seats	Electoral district type	Rule				
Africa								
Mauritius	Under-represented communities	Up to 8	Nationwide	Seats are awarded to "best losers" to balance out communal representation				
Niger	Tuareg	8	SMDs (overlapping)	Plurality				
Asia and the Pacific								
Afghanistan	Kuchis	10	Single separate nationwide	SNTV; 3 out of 10 seats reserved for women				
India	Scheduled Castes Scheduled Tribes	79 41	Designated SMDs	Plurality				
New Zealand	Maori	7	SMDs (overlapping)	Plurality				
Pakistan	Non-Muslims	10	Proportional distribution to parties in accordance to their seat-share in general elections					
Philippines	Marginalized and underrepresented sectors	20% (52)*	Single nationwide district	Proportional formula; 3 seats cap per party				
Samoa	Non-Samoans	2	Single nationwide	SNTV				
Singapore	Malays Indians and others	9 6	In 15 multi-member distri elected by bloc vote is res					
Taiwan	Highland aborigines Lowland aborigines	3 3	Two three-member districts SNTV					
The Middle	East							
Iraq	Christians Yzidi Sabeans Shabak	5 1 1 1	One nationwide five- member district for Christians and one nationwide SMD for each of the other groups	Proportional formula with open lists in the Christian district and plurality in the other three				
Jordan	Bedouins Christians Circassians and Chechens	9 9 3	Three three-member districts for Bedouins; others elected in non- exclusive multi-member districts	SNTV (with priority election for minorities in mixed districts)				

# Table 1: Overview of special electoral mechanisms for group representation

	Beneficiary groups	Number of seats	Electoral district type	Rule
Europe				
Croatia	Serbs Hungarians Italians Czechs and Slovaks Roma and others Albanians, Bosniaks and others	3 1 1 1 1 1	Six separate nationwide districts	Plurality
Germany	National minorities	0*	Nationwide district together with the majority group	Exemption from 5% legal threshold
Kosovo	Serbs Bosniaks Turks Gorani Roma Ashkali Egyptians	10 3 2 1 1 or 2 1 or 2 1 or 2 1 or 2	Single nationwide district together with the majority group	Proportional formula with reservations
Montenegro	Albanians	5	Separate nationwide district	Proportional formula and 3% district-level threshold
Poland	National minorities	1*	41 multi-member districts with magnitude between 7 and 19	Exemption from 5% legal threshold applied for vote totals nationwide
Romania	National minorities	18*	Single nationwide district together with the majority group	Threshold of 10% average seat cost; one seat per minority
Serbia	National minorities	7*	Single nationwide district together with the majority group	Exemption from 5% legal threshold
Slovenia	Hungarians Italians	1 1	Separate nationwide districts	Borda count; dual voting rights
Latin Ameri	ca		· 	
Colombia	Afro-Colombians Indigenous peoples	2 1	Separate nationwide district for each group	FPTP
Venezuela	Indigenous communities	3	SMDs (overlapping)	Plurality

#### Table 1 (continued): Overview of special electoral mechanisms for group representation

Notes: For countries where the number of reserved seats is not fixed, the value in the "Number of seats" column represents the number of seats won by minority parties in the latest election, except for Serbia where numbers from the 2008 elections are used.

Sources: see Chapter 3 for individual country sources; also see Appendix A.

# 4. Implementing the special measures

When he had first taken up studying special electoral provisions fostering group representation, Lijphart thought of them as substitutions or supplements for proportional representation. This was a plausible stance looking at the limited pool of six countries he had studied, but with the advent of more widespread use of special electoral measures it can no longer be said that special mechanisms are more characteristic of one type of electoral system than another. As evident from the presentation of my 22 cases, special measures can be found in virtually all major types of electoral systems. In this Chapter, I look at the ways these measures were introduced into the various institutional contexts of different countries. I find that a variety of combinations is possible, but also that some cases are more alike one another - forming recognizable modes of implementation.

My analysis is driven by a basic idea that introducing a special measure in fact constitutes introducing a second set of electoral rules for minority candidates and/or voters, next to the set of rules that is used to elect representatives of the general population. Table 2 therefore conveys information about rules used in both sections of electoral systems for countries in my sample. The third column of the table, captioned "Ballot", indicates the differences that the two sets of rules produce when perceived from the perspective of a minority voter. The "Type" of ballot indicates if the minority voter in a given country is faced with the same type of political competitors on his ballot as is a member of the general population to whom the minority voter would be equivalent if there were no special rules in place. If the two voters are faced with the same type of competitors than the table reads "=", while "X" indicates the type of competitors on the ballot is directly related to the type of electoral rules which are being used and this is exactly the link that I intend to exploit in further examination. I will do

	Rule for general	Rule for election of minority	Ballot			
	elections	representatives	Туре	Cont ent	Mode	
Germany	MMP	MMP (with threshold exemption)	=	Ш	Integrated	
Kosovo	PR	PR	=	=	Integrated	
India	FPTP	FPTP	=	=	Integrated	
Iraq	PR	PR; FPTP	=	=	Integrated	
Jordan	SNTV	SNTV with priority quota for minorities in mixed districts	=	= / X	Integrated	
Montenegro	PR	PR	=	=	Integrated	
Singapore	Bloc vote	Quota on bloc slates	=	=	Integrated	
Philippines	FPTP	PR	=	=	Integrated*	
Poland	PR	PR (with threshold exemption)	=	=	Integrated	
Romania	MMP / PR (see text)	PR (with lowered threshold)	=	=	Integrated	
Serbia	PR	PR (with threshold exemption)	=	II	Integrated	
New Zealand	MMP	FPTP	=	= $= / X$ Parallel (same rule)		
Taiwan	Mixed parallel	SNTV	=	= / X	Parallel (same rules)	
Venezuela	Mixed parallel	FPTP	=	= / X	Parallel (same rules)	
Samoa	SNTV	SNTV	=	Х	Parallel (same rules)	
Slovenia	PR	Borda count; dual voting rights	= / X	= / X	Parallel (dual voting)	
Niger	PR	FPTP	X	Х	Parallel (different rules)	
Colombia	PR	FPTP	X	X	Parallel (different rules)	
Croatia	PR	FPTP	X	Х	Parallel (different rules)	
Mauritius	SNTV	Proportional; based on predefined community shares	= =		Post-election modification	
Pakistan	FPTP	Proportional; based on seat-shares won by parties in direct elections	=	= = Post-elect modificat		

Table 2: Modes of implementation for special measures

this by linking the information about the type of competitors under the special rules with the actual content of the ballot.

The column captioned "Content" again indicates if the minority voter and a general population voter are faced with different ballots or not, except in this case it is not the "type" of competitors that is relevant, but rather the actual competitors listed on the ballot.

Presenting the cases in this way reveals several ways in which special electoral mechanisms may be built "into", or "next to" the electoral rules for the general population. The types are labeled under the last column of Table 2, under the heading "Mode" – standing for mode of implementation.

In the first set of cases, designated as employing the "integrated" mode of implementation minority voters face exactly the same ballots as any other voters, but votes cast for minority candidates of lists are the ones that get counted or treated differently. For instance, votes cast for Albanian lists in Montenegro will have a threshold applied to them which was calculated only on the basis of Albanian votes. Similarly, voters in Singapore will all be faced with the same choices and is the rules of candidacy that are governed by special rules. One somewhat different case in this category is Jordan, where Christian and Circassian voters will face exactly the same ballots as their majority counterparts, but Bedouin voters will face different ballots since they vote in geographically separate districts. The latter detail I consider to be unimportant in this context as it is merely a practicality, while the main reason why Jordan was selected for this study in the first place is the priority that minority candidates have for elections through SNTV.

The second contingent of cases is made up of those countries where minority voters and voters belonging to the general population face substantively different choices, either in terms of the content of the ballot papers or in terms of both content and type of competitors on the ballot. In the first bloc of countries (Afghanistan, New Zealand, Samoa, Taiwan and Venezuela) are examples of separated electoral competition where the same rules apply for elections of both minority and non-minority representatives. Two of those – Afghanistan and Samoa – are cases where two layers of districts (one of which is nationwide, where minority representatives are elected) have been superimposed in geographical terms over each other so that there is no link between the two, meaning that a European descended Samoan will vote in a different district and for different candidates than his Samoa-born neighbor. The other three cases are instances of two-tiered systems where all voters cast one vote in a proportional segment of the elections and face the same choices as they do that, but they also cast a second vote for a candidate – at which point minority voters are faced with a different choice-set than non-minority voters. Hence, both "=" and "X" are marked in the "Content" column for these three cases – the "=" signifies the same choice in the proportional tier, while "X" signifies different choice in the plurality tier.

A third significant group of cases is made up of countries where minority voters not only face differing options when entering the polling booth, but their votes are also counted according to different rules – hence a difference in "Type" of ballot that they will encounter. These systems, used in Niger, Colombia and Croatia, are most similar to what are normally termed "parallel" or "segmented" electoral systems – that is systems where voters cast two votes in two tiers that are logically separate. The difference, of course, is that in these countries voters do not have two votes, but rather there are two types of voters: minority and non-minority.

Occupying the middle ground between the latest two options is Slovenia where dual voting right enables minority voters to vote with absolutely the same options and the same rules as non-minority voters, but also to cast an additional vote on a separate ballot with different candidates and different rules of competition. Hence, both "X" and "=" are marked in both of the relevant fields for Slovenia.

Finally, the last two cases in Table 2 are Mauritius and Pakistan, whose systems are similar to those of the first category insofar as all voters are faced with exactly the same options, but in this case the minority representatives are not elected based on the votes cast by minority voters, but are rather introduced into the parliament as a by-product or supplement of the regular electoral process. These representatives are in that respect similar to appointed representatives in some countries that were not included in this survey.

The purpose of this Chapter was to identify the ways that lawmakers could take if they wish to introduce some type of special measure into the electoral system of their country. Four main modes of implementation were identified: integration – where all voters face similar options, but some votes are counted according to varying rules; parallel systems with differing content on ballots of minority and non-minority voters, but otherwise the same rules of competition; parallel systems where both the content of the ballots and the rules governing the election of minority and non-minority candidates differ; and finally post-election modifications which allocated seats in accordance to the results of elections, but without immediate link to votes cast by the minority voters. A stand-alone case is Slovenia, where dual voting rights have put minority voters in a unique position of voting in two electoral systems at the same time with their voting counting twice.

# 5. Selecting the groups and allocating seats

As I have indicated in the closing lines of Chapter 3, a necessary part of analysis of the special group representation mechanisms involves asking questions about the appropriateness of the selection of groups to whom the electoral benefits will be available. It also means that we should look at the effectiveness with which special mechanisms have benefited particular groups. In Will Kymlicka's words, what we need to define is *which* groups should be represented, and *how many* seats they should be awarded (Kymlicka 1995, 144-146). This section is dedicated to identifying the individual and comparative performance of the special mechanisms in these aspects.

# 5.1. Selecting the beneficiary groups: self-determination or pre-determination

The question of which groups should benefit from special mechanisms describes what might be termed the "inclusiveness dimension" of the problem. However, defining groups which have a "right" to representation has long been marked as a task that is nearly impossible to completely vindicate on normative grounds. In the context of consociational theory, Arend Lijphart (1995) has tried to address this issue by distinguishing between pre-determination and self-determination of groups. The latter term is not used here in the typical sense of "national self-determination" – a principle that secessionist movements might invoke. Rather, what Lijphart denotes as "self-determination" of social groups is an institutional design principle which "allows these groups to manifest themselves instead of deciding in advance on the identity of the groups" (Lijphart 1995, 275).

The same differentiation is applicable in the context of special mechanisms: legislators may choose to enumerate (pre-define) the groups that are entitled to special treatment, or they could choose to enact special measures addressed at an abstract set of groups, such as "national minorities". It should be noted immediately, however, that it is not possible to enact a special measure from which benefits would be available to any group. It would by the virtue of that fact immediately seize to be "special" in any meaningful way. We shall see in the progress of this Chapter that this has not always been entirely clear to legislators in some countries.

For Lijphart the latter point was not an issue, as he was not interested in creating a special measure, but a basis for a consociational system in which relevant groups may freely emerge. Of the solutions he suggests, only one can be described as an electoral mechanism: "a relatively pure form of PR" (Lijphart 1995, 281). In this model, voters self-identify as part of a group by voting for a political party which claims to be the group's political representative. All features of group representation are therefore decided through a single process – the elections.

But as elegant as Lijphart's proposition is, it also conflates into one what are actually four processes that together lead to election of group representatives: selection of individuals (voters) belonging to a group (1), selection of beneficiary groups themselves (2), allocation of seats to these groups (3), and allocation of seats to particular parties and/or candidates (4). Of these, only the fourth function is necessarily decided in elections<sup>7</sup>. The question of individual identification has not been fully explored in my presentation of cases, but it has been elsewhere. Petra Meier (2009) has dealt with this issue in the context of essentialization problems posed by group representation measures. She has concluded that lack of opportunity

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Necessity exists only by definition since I am not examining the cases of appointed group representatives.

for self-identification on the individual level is not a very oft occurrence, limited to cases such as Jordan or Lebanon. I will therefore turn my attention to the second and third functions, using Lijphart's pure PR as an orientation beacon.

# 5.2. Which groups should be represented?

Contrary to Lijphart's advice against pre-determination, my empirical survey in Chapter 3 indicates that in most cases the groups to whom parliamentary representation should be secured are labeled explicitly. This has been the case in 17 out of 22 cases. On the other hand, in 5 countries (Germany, the Philippines, Poland, Romania and Serbia) the law does not label the groups which may be eligible to incur benefits from the special measures. This is the situation only at the first glance, however, as further examination of particular cases reveals much more diversity.

Let me first take into consideration the smaller of the two groups of countries. Their special measures seem close to a self-determination mechanism as imagined by Lijphart. However, this is only limitedly so because the category of national or ethnic minorities is legally defined in most of these countries to include some groups, and exclude others. In the German case for instance, the term "national minority" includes the Danish, Sorbian, Frisian, and Sinti/Roma minorities, but not immigrant communities such as the large Turkish population in Germany (Venice Commission 2004, 10-11). In Poland, the 2005 Act on National and Ethnic Minorities and on the Regional Languages stipulates in Article 1 that only communities residing in Poland for over one hundred years shall be considered national or ethnic minorities. The law proceeds to enumerate a total of 13 such groups (Art. 2-3) which are by

extension eligible to benefit from the abolished threshold specified in the electoral law. A less finite definition is used in Serbian<sup>8</sup> Law on Protection and Freedoms of National Minorities which does not enumerate ethnic minorities, but does contain a similar historical clause requiring "a long term and firm bond" with the territory of Serbia (Art. 2). The self-determination aspect of group representation is therefore present in these countries but only for groups who belong to a certain pre-defined set.

In contrast, Romania and the Philippines impose much less stringent criteria on groups wanting to compete under special rules. In Romania, a party must simply declare in its name and program that it is running for some conceivable national minority (Birch *et al.* 2002, 94). The post-electoral revision is performed by the Parliament in case of formal objections, but this has proved to be an ineffective mechanism governed by the majority's interest to co-opt additional loyal parliamentarians (Alionsecu 2002, 68-70). Protsyk and Matichescu (2010, 29) note that as a consequence, the special provision has not only enabled minority representation, but also played "a key role in constructing some of these groups in the first place". Similarly, in the Philippines the vague wording of the constitutional provision mandating a special mechanism for representation of underprivileged sectors and groups has resulted in the Electoral Commission and Supreme Court having to repeatedly determine the legitimate competitors – with a rather permissive, albeit unstable policy being in place thus far.

An important thing to note here is that the existence of these final instances of revision – the Parliament in the Romanian case, and the Supreme Court in the Philippines – define the modifications in the electoral systems of these countries as "special measures". If there was no such review the measures would, despite the formal wording of the laws, become open for everyone and would effectively seize to be "special". The Philippines are a borderline case in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Inherited from the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and unmodified since

this respect, as there are virtually an infinite number of groups that may make a claim to be underprivileged in some way and therefore warranted special treatment under Philippine electoral law.

Turning to the larger set of countries where groups entitled to benefit from the special measures were enumerated explicitly, one case stands out as deserving special attention – New Zealand. Although that country's reserved seats mechanism very much resembles that of countries where seats are granted on a completely non-flexible basis, the situation is slightly more complicated. It is true that only Maori are selected by the law as a group which can receive reserved seats, but the law also provides for an option that this group can "de-select" itself, much like minorities in Germany, Poland or Serbia can "de-select" themselves by not fielding minority lists in elections. The difference is that in New Zealand this act is separated from the act of voting and connected to registration on Maori electoral roll. As Geddis observes, the pre-election Maori Electoral Option registration periods *de facto* constitute a periodical referendum among Maori population about the desirability of reserved seats. If Maori decided to no longer self-determine as a separate political entity by registering on the separate roll, the Maori seats would "naturally" cease to exist under the existing legislation (Geddis 2006, 255).

New Zealand is a lone case, but its lesson is important because it shows that elections are not the only mechanism which may be used as a vehicle for self-determination of groups. Even though separate electoral rolls for minority voters are kept in other countries as well (e.g. Croatia, Slovenia, or Venezuela), failure of minority voters to register on communal rolls would not have quite the same effect as in New Zealand. The seat for Italian representative in the Slovenian parliament would always be filled, even if, hypothetically, as little as one voter had registered on the Italian roll. Therefore, status of Italians as a beneficiary group in Slovenia is entirely pre-defined, whereas status of Maori in New Zealand is not. Figure 1 summarizes the findings of this section by presenting the options available to institutional designers when it comes to defining the relevant beneficiary groups for special mechanisms. Lijphart's pure PR is used as a standard representing pure self-determination under which existence of group representation is determined solely by an aggregate of individual decisions. Options for special mechanisms are then ordered from the least rigid to completely pre-defined. It is possible to argue, as I have, that the Philippine arrangement is more permissive than Romanian, but this is simply a matter of practical details. As far as the general design principle goes, both cases are determined by *ex post* review as the final selection mechanism.

Figure 1: Options for defining beneficiary groups for special mechanisms

		Self- determination	Flexible pre-d grou	Rigidly pre-		
4	Pure PR	with ex post review	Selection via registration	Selection via elections	defined groups	
Examples:	The Netherlands	The Philippines Romania	New Zealand	Germany Serbia	Slovenia Iraq	
	Non-special mechanisms		Special mechanisms			

Related to selection of groups, a final note needs to be made about artificial inflation of inclusiveness that has been observed in a few cases. A particularly illustrative example is that of Croatia where smaller minorities have been grouped together into constituencies represented by one parliament member each. Putting aside for a moment the suspicious purposefulness of enumerating in the electoral law such ethnic groups as Vlachs or Bulgarians whose population in Croatia does not exceed a thousand individuals, there is another reason why this type of practice can result in serious representational shortcomings in cases when

two or more substantially large minorities are grouped together. In the case of Croatia this is primarily the case with Albanians and Bosniaks who formally elect one representative together, but in actuality are in a competing relationship with regards to obtaining the one seat that was reserved for them. This has become very obvious in the last elections when the Bosniak candidate narrowly defeated the Albanian candidate. This type of group selection should therefore be examined with caution. Researchers need to pay close attention to which groups are actually awarded seats in countries that award single seats to multiple minorities. This being said, I turn in the final section of this Chapter to the question of seat allocation to groups.

## 5.3. How many seats should a group be entitled to?

First off, a clear statement needs to be made about exactly what kind of allocation I am referring to in this section. The question I am dealing with is: how many seats should a group be entitled to through a special mechanism? This is a separate issue from the questions about which parties or candidates should receive the seats. The two questions are sometimes answered simultaneously, but there is no necessity for that link.

Glancing over the 22 cases in this study, even a casual observer could easily distinguish two kinds of arrangements. On one hand, some countries have through law or constitution allocated a precise number of seats to particular groups. On the other hand, there are countries where seat allocation is not fixed, but dependent on some other criterion, such as electoral performance. However, a more in-depth look again reveals more variation then is immediately obvious. Four countries stand out for their unique allocation rules: Mauritius, New Zealand, the Philippines and Romania. New Zealand's method of calculating the number

of reserved Maori seats I have already addressed in detail, and I therefore proceed by examining the other three cases in turn.

As described in detail in Chapter 3, the Mauritian electoral system contains a special provision designed to create balanced communal representation in the country's parliament. The allocation of compensatory seats was originally based on periodically gathered census data, but this practice has been abandoned in 1982 in the name of a nation-building project which was at the time already well underway. Indeed, the country is now widely considered as a success-story, an example of a heterogeneous, yet well integrated society (Christopher 1992; Mathur 1997). Here, however, I am interested more in the previous arrangement than its abandonment. As it happens, Mauritius is the only country identified in this survey which has, at least at some point, explicitly used periodical census data to determine the allocation of seats reserved for underrepresented groups. It is quite possible that census data has had a role in deriving the number of reserved seats in countries where that number is fixed, but nowhere has it been codified as in pre-1982 Mauritius.

The other two cases of interest, the Philippines and Romania, represent variations in the category of countries where the number of seats initially seems flexible. Both countries nominally allot group seats on the basis of proportional representation, but simultaneously impose caps on the number of seats that can be allocated to a single group. The one-seat cap has effectively turned Romania into a case of non-flexible allocation, while in the Philippines the limiting provision of a 3-seat maximum still allows for some variation, but nevertheless limits the proportionality of the mechanism.

All in all, the methods of seat allocation show less systematic features than the methods of group selection. The preferred option among surveyed countries seems to be a fixed number of reserved seats, but variations are possible either in the form of census-based allocation or in

the form of cap limits on otherwise proportional mechanisms. Completely flexible allocation is comparatively rare and limited to countries which use threshold exemptions for minority parties. With the design options explained, in final section of this Chapter, I briefly address the question of appropriateness of group representation in numerical terms – have the special mechanisms resulted in the level of representation that corresponds to the size of the group's population?

# 5.4. Appropriateness of seat allocation in the surveyed

#### cases

What probably matters more than the absolute number of seats allocated to a group is the appropriateness of that allocation in comparison with the group's size. The issue can be approached from two angles: we might look at the weight of the minority votes in the national legislature, or we may look at the relationship between the population share and the seat share of a given minority.

In Table 3 data relating to the two described measures is presented for 20 out of the 22 cases considered in this study. Germany was omitted from the table as its special mechanism has never actually been activated in the elections for Bundestag. In addition, the Philippines were left out due to unavailability of data about the population breakdown according to the numerous social groups for which the special measure in Philippines is intended.

In terms of weight of minority votes in the legislatures, the picture is not one-sided. Reservations of five seats or less are prevalent, but in some countries such as Kosovo or India reservations are substantial. At the same time, India is one of the rare countries where reservations have been made almost entirely in proportion with regards to the population of

	Beneficiary groups	Pop. (%)	Chamber Size	Seat #	Seat %	Diff.	Ratio
Afghanistan	Kuchis	5	249	10	4	- 1	0.8
Colombia	Afro-Colombians Indigenous peoples	10.5 3.4	165	2 1	1.2 0.6	- 9.3 - 2.8	0.11 0.18
Croatia	Serbs Hungarians Italians Czechs and Slovaks Roma and others Albanians, Bosniaks and others	4.54 0.37 0.44 0.35 1.32 0.41	151	3 1 1 1 1 1	2 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7	- 2.54 +0.33 +0.28 +0.35 - 0.62 +0.29	0.44 1.89 1.59 2 0.53 1.71
India	Scheduled Castes Scheduled Tribes	16.2 8.2	545	79 41	14.5 7.5	- 1.7 - 0.7	0.9 0.91
Iraq	Christians Yzidi Sabeans Shabak	3 1.93 0.02 0.64	325	5 1 1 1	1.5 0.3 0.3 0.3	- 1.5 - 1.63 +0.28 - 0.34	0.5 0.16 15 0.47
Jordan	Bedouins Christians Circassians and Chechens	4.18 6 1	120	9 9 3	7.5 7.5 2.5	+3.32 +1.5 +1.5	1.79 1.25 2.5
Kosovo	Serbs Others	7 5	120	10 10	8.3 8.3	+1.3 +3.3	1.19 1.66
Mauritius	Hindus Muslims "General Population" Sino-Mauritians	50.3 16.1 30.7 2.9	69	36(0) 11(2) 21(5) 1(0)	52.2 15.9 30.4 1.45	+1.9 -0.2 -0.3 -1.45	1.04 0.99 0.99 0.5
Montenegro	Albanians	5.3	81	5	6	+0.7	1.13
New Zealand	Maori	15.3	121	7	6*	- 1.4	0.39
Niger	Tuareg	9.3	113	8	7	- 2.3	0.75
Pakistan	Non-Muslims	5	342	10	3	- 2	0.6
Poland	Germans	0.4	460	1	0.2	- 0.2	0.5

 Table 3: Appropriateness of seat allocation through the special measures

	Beneficiary groups	Pop. (%)	Chambe r Size	Seat #	Seat %	Diff.	A- ratio
	Albanians	0.002		1	0.3	+0.208	150
	Armenians	0.002		1	0.3	+0.298	37.5
				1		+0.292	
	Bulgarians	0.03		1	0.3	+0.27	10
	Croatians	0.03		1	0.3	+0.27	10
	Germans	0.27		1	0.3	+0.03	1.11
	Greeks	0.02		1	0.3	+0.28	15 20
	Italians	0.01		1	0.3	+0.29	30
	Lipovan Russians	0.16		1	0.3	+0.14	1.87
Romania	Jews	0.02	334	1	0.3	+0.28	15
	Macedonians	0.003		1	0.3	+0.297	100
	Poles	0.01		1	0.3	+0.29	30
	Roma	2.46		1	0.3	- 2.16	0.12
	Ruthenians	0.001		1	0.3	+0.299	300
	Serbs	0.1		1	0.3	+0.2	3
	Czechs / Slovaks	0.09		1	0.3	+0.21	3.33
	Tatars	0.11		1	0.3	+0.19	2.73
	Turks	0.14		1	0.3	+0.16	2.14
	Ukrainians	0.28		1	0.3	+0.02	1.07
Samoa	Non-Samoans	7.4	49	2	4	- 3.4	0.54
	Albanians	0.82		1	0.4	- 0.42	0.49
Serbia	Bosniaks	1.82	250	2	0.8	- 1.02	0.44
	Hungarians	3.91		4	1.6	- 2.31	0.41
Singapore	Malays	13.9	97	9	9	- 4.9	0.65
Singupore	Indians and others	9.3	71	6	6	- 3.3	0.65
Slovenia	Hungarians	0.11	90	1	1.1	+0.99	10
Slovenia	Italians	0.32	90	1	1.1	+0.78	2.91
Taiwan	Highland aborigines Lowland aborigines	2	113	6	5.2	+3.2	2.6
Venezuela	Indigenous communities	1.5	165	3	1.8	+0.03	1.2

Table 3 (continued): Appropriateness of seat allocation through the special measures

Notes: For all countries seat figures are for the latest elections; except for Serbia where seats refer to 2008 elections. Legislature size for Singapore without appointed members. For New Zealand only reserved seats are counted. Additional Maori seats were won through regular electoral competition (see text). Where no detailed population data was available groups were conflated (see Kosovo, Taiwan). For Mauritius, the numbers in brackets refer to seats allocated through the special measure.

Sources: Population figures from CIA World Factbook (2012); MRGI (2012); except for Afghanistan, Croatia, India, Kosovo, New Zealand; Serbia, Slovenia, Poland – see Appendix A; for Colombia: Bushnell and Hudson (2012); for Jordan: Sweiss (2005); for Romania Protsyk and Matichescu (2010); for Venezuela: Van Cott (2003).

the relevant minority. Looking at the last column of Table 3 which represents the ratio between the population and seat percentage assigned to each group, we see that there are amazing differences both between and within cases. Given what was already told about the high inclusiveness of Romanian special measure, it is not surprising that this is the country where we find the highest number of overrepresented groups as well as the most overrepresented group – the presence of one representative of Ruthenians in Romania is 300 times as strong in the Romanian parliament than the presence of Ruthenian population in the country.

The overall picture shows that overrepresentation is slightly more common among the included groups. 33 out of a total of 60 groups for which the data is shown in Table 3 are overrepresented. However, this is mostly due to the skewness produced by deviant case of Romania. If it is excluded, the ratio falls down to 16 overrepresented minorities out of 42. The most grossly underrepresented group are Afro-Colombians with 10 times as less parliamentary representatives when compared to their share of the population. The other Colombian minority group – Amerindians – also suffers from strong underrepresentation under the existing measure, just like the Yzidi group in Iraq. Another interesting case of an underrepresented group are the Romanian Roma for whom the one seat limit imposed on national minority lists under special rules of the Romanian electoral system, has meant that benefiting from the special mechanism will always mean remaining somewhat underrepresented.

Of course argument can be made that any of these groups might never have acquired any parliamentary representation whatsoever if there were no special measures in place. This is almost invariably true – that is in fact the strongest argument that can be used for introduction of special rules. However, it is neither an explanation, nor a justification for the minimal standards that were employed by institutional designers in the aforementioned countries.

A question remains, however, if overrepresentation is something we should always strive for. The case of Romania commands caution with regards to the desirability of special mechanisms that show so little capacity for selection. Yet, about half a year ago Hungary adopted a new electoral law which creates a special mechanism for minority representation whose resemblance to the Romanian solution can hardly be a coincidence. Under the new law, national minority lists will be able to win a seat in the national legislature if they manage to obtain a quarter of a Hare quota calculated on a nationwide basis (Renwick 2011). That a measure which was so heavily criticized could be transferred across systems only confirms the need to make the knowledge about these provisions more readily available to lawmakers.

# 6. Conclusion

The aim of this thesis was to add to our knowledge about electoral systems through analysis of a particular set of countries where special measures are implemented with a specific goal of providing particular groups in the society with parliamentary representation. The value of this type of inquiry stems from the importance that theoreticians and practitioners have assigned to descriptive representation – that is representation of groups, such as ethnic, religious or lingual minorities – by specially designated representatives. Exploring the parliamentary aspect of descriptive representation in no way exhausts the relevant approaches to the phenomenon or ideal of descriptive representation, but it appears as the most logical place for a starting point.

The contributions of this paper in the light of its defined goals were threefold: first, a detailed and comprehensive survey of empirical cases of special electoral measures was conducted, adding depth to the existing similar collections (e.g. Reynolds 2006; Protsyk 2010). Second a systematization of the acquired information was provided, with exact options for institutional designers delineated in a clear and coherent way. Systematization was performed along several axes including the mode of integration of special measures into the electoral system; the choice of groups which may benefit from the special arrangements and ways to allocate seats to groups. Additionally, a short analysis of appropriateness of the existing allocation across cases has been performed, showing that underrepresentation is surprisingly common under special measures.

Ground not covered by this paper and open for exploration in further studies includes the study of competitive forces and party dynamics at work when special measures are enacted. How the political game is played under special rules and with reduced policy space is an important question, answer to which might change some of the political scientist's minds when it comes to desirability or undesirability of special measures. Another alley not fully explored here is the question of interests that surround the enactment and preservation of special measures. Individual cases, such as that of Singapore or Romania, have shown that the special measures can become captured by the interests of the current elite, thereby defeating not only their purpose of protecting the minority groups, but also jeopardizing democracy at the level of the system. The debate about how useful or how dangerous special measures can be is therefore still open, with my work here being just an offering of tools useful to any future inquirers.

# 7. Appendix A

This section lists online sources on legislation, election results and population that were used in creation of this thesis.<sup>9</sup> For easier navigation, the sources are listed on per county basis. Sources used for more than one country are listed under "General Sources".

### **General sources**

#### For electoral rules and results:

Carr, Adam. 2012 "Adam Carr's Psephos Election Archive." Accessed: 25 May. www.psephos.adam-carr.net.

International Foundation for Electoral Systems (IFES). 2012. "IFES Election Guide."

Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://electionguide.org/country.php?ID=195.

Inter-Parliamentary Union (IPU). 2012. "PARLINE database" Accessed: 25 May. http://www.ipu.org/parline-e/parlinesearch.asp.

Legislation Online. 2012. "Constitutions" and "Elections". Accessed: 25 May. http://www.legislationline.org.

Venice Commission (European Commission for Democracy through Law). 2000. "Electoral Law and National Minorities." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.venice.coe.int/docs/2005/CDL-AD%282005%29009-e.asp.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Where bibliographical sources were used, they are listed under "References".

Venice Commission (European Commission for Democracy through Law). 2005. "Report on Electoral Rules and Affirmative Action for National Minorities' Participation in Decision-Making Process in European Countries." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.venice.coe.int/docs/2005/CDL-AD%282005%29009-e.asp.

Venice Commission (European Commission for Democracy through Law). 2008. "Report on Dual Voting for Persons Belonging to National Minorities." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.venice.coe.int/docs/2008/CDL-AD%282008%29013-e.asp.

#### For population data:

Central Intelligence Agency (CIA). 2012. "The World Factbook". Accessed: 25 May. https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/index.html.

Minority Rights Group International (MRGI). 2012. "World Directory of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples." Accessed: 25 May. http://www.minorityrights.org/directory.

## **By Country**

#### Afghanistan

Independent Election Commission of Afghanistan. 2010. "Electoral Law" [*Unofficial Translation by UNAMA and IFES*] Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.iec.org.af/pdf/legal framework/law/electorallaw\_eng.pdf?phpMyAdmin=84dcac90c9ded2016426264a0e469bc0.

World Food Programme (WFP). 2012. "WFP Food Security Atlas for Afghanistan: Population and Demography". Accessed: 25 May. http://foodsecurityatlas.org/afg/country/ socioeconomic-profile/introduction.

#### Croatia

Croatian Bureau of Statistics. 2001. "Population by Ethnicity, by Towns/Municipalities 2001." http://www.dzs.hr/Eng/censuses/Census2001/Popis/E01\_02\_02/E01\_02\_02.html.

Croatian Parliament. 2012. "Important Legislation". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.sabor.hr/Default.aspx?sec=714.

#### Colombia

World Intellectual Property Organization. 2005. "Political Constitution of Colombia" Accessed 25 May 2012. http://www.wipo.int/wipolex/en/details.jsp?id=5431.

#### India

Government of India. 2001. "Census Data 2001: Scheduled Castes & Scheduled Tribes Population". http://www.censusindia.gov.in/Census\_Data\_2001/India\_at\_Glance/scst.aspx.

Government of India, Ministry of Law and Justice. 2011. "Constitution of India updated up to 97<sup>th</sup> Amendment Act". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://indiacode.nic.in/coiweb/welcome.html.

#### Iraq

Independent High Electoral Commission (IHEC). 2010. "Regulation No. (21) For 2010 Council of Representatives Elections: Seat Allocation." Accessed: 25 May 2012. www.ihec-iq.com/en/files/18.pdf.

United Nations Assistant Mission for Iraq (UNAMI). 2010. "Factsheet: Electoral system and seat allocation." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://unami.unmissions.org/LinkClick.aspx?fileticket=c2E uDB1Uy3M%3d&tabid=4317&language=en-US.

#### Kosovo

Official Gazette of the Republic of Kosovo. 2008. "Law No. 03/L-073 on General Elections in the Republic of Kosovo". www.gazetazyrtare.com/e-gov/ahtisari/073-Eng.swf.

Official Gazette of the Republic of Kosovo. 2008. "Constitution of the Republic of Kosovo". http://www.gazetazyrtare.com/e-gov/index.php?option=com\_content&task=view&id=130& Itemid=54

The U.S. Department of State. 2012. "Background Note: Kosovo". Last Modified: 12 January. http://www.state.gov/r/pa/ei/bgn/100931.htm.

#### Mauritius

Republic of Mauritius Electoral Commissioner's Office. 2012. "Laws and Regulations". Accessed: 25 May. http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/eco/menuitem.3c8fbbc803ea270b9459d9a3 65d521ca.

Republic of Mauritius Electoral Commissioner's Office. 2012. "National Assembly Election Results". Accessed: 25 May. http://www.gov.mu/portal/site/eco/menuitem.37ba32a3c47831 28d6c8662948a521ca/?content\_id=630b9dbfa1158010VgnVCM100000ca6a12acRCRD

#### Montenegro

The OSCE Office for Democratic Institutions and Human Rights (OSCE/ODIHR). 2009. "Montenegro Early Parliamentary Elections 2009, Final Report" Accessed: 25 May. http://www.osce.org/odihr/elections/montenegro/37521.

66

The Official Gazette of Montenegro. "Zakon o izboru odbornika i poslanika" [*The Law on Election of Councilors and Representatives*]. Issues: 4/98,17/98, 14/00, 9/01, 41/02, 46/02 and 48/06.

The Parliament of Montenegro. 2012. "Constitution of Montenegro". Accessed: 25 May. http://www.skupstina.me/cms/site\_data/16122009/USTAV%20CG-engleska%20verzija.pdf.

#### **New Zealand**

Statistics New Zealand. 2012. "Māori Population Estimates: at 30 June 1991–2011" Accessed: 25 May. http://www.stats.govt.nz/browse\_for\_stats/population/estimates\_and\_pro jections/maori-population-estimates.aspx.

The Royal Commission on the Electoral System. 1986. *Report of the Royal Commission on the Electoral System*. http://www.elections.org.nz/voting/mmp/royal-commission-report-1986.html.

#### Niger

Assemblée Nationale du Niger. 2012. "La Constitution la 7eme Republique" [*Constitution of the Seventh Republic*, in french]. Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.assemblee.ne/images/ stories/textes/constitution\_7eme\_republique.pdf.

#### Pakistan

Constitution of the Islamic Republic of Pakistan [*amended*]. 2011. [Unofficial Version] Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.pakistani.org.

Election Commission of Pakistan. 2008. "General Elections 2008 Report, Volume I-II." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.ecp.gov.pk/Misc/ReportGeneralElection2008Vol-II.pdf.

Election Commission of Pakistan. 2012. "Electoral Laws, Volume I." Accessed: 25 May. http://www.ecp.gov.pk/ElectionLaws/Volume-I.pdf.

#### **The Philippines**

Republic of the Philippines Commission on Elections (COMELEC). 1986. "Constitution of the Republic of Philippines". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.comelec.gov.ph/laws/ constitution/toc.html.

Republic of the Philippines Commission on Elections (COMELEC). 1995. "Republic Act No. 7941: An Act Providing For The Election Of Party-List Representatives Through The Party-List System, And Appropriating Funds Therefor." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.comelec.gov.ph/laws/republic\_acts/ra\_7941.html.

#### Samoa

The Parliament of Samoa. 2012. "Legislation". Accessed: 25 May.

http://www.parliament.gov.ws/Legislations/tabid/5174/language/en-US/Default.aspx.

#### Serbia

Law on Protection of Rights and Freedoms of National Minorities. 2002, [Unofficial OSCE translation]. Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.unhcr.org/refworld/docid/4b5d97562.html.

Government of the Republic of Serbia. 2012. "Constitution of the Republic of Serbia". Accessed: 25 May. http://www.srbija.gov.rs/cinjenice\_o\_srbiji/ustav.php.

Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. 2002. "Final Results of the 2002 Census". http://www.stat.gov.rs/zip/esn31.pdf.

#### Singapore

Singapore Elections Department. "Types of Electoral Divisions." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.eld.gov.sg/elections\_type\_electoral.html.

Singapore Statutes Online. 2010. "Constitution of the Republic of Singapore." Version in force on 1 July. http://statutes.agc.gov.sg.

#### Slovenia

Constitutional Court of the Republic of Slovenia. 2012. "Constitution of the Republic of Slovenia with Amendments as of 2006" Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.us-rs.si/media/full.text.of.the.constitution.full.text.pdf.

Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia. 2002. "Population by ethnic affiliation, Slovenia, Census 1953, 1961, 1971, 1981, 1991 and 2002". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.stat.si/popis2002/en/rezultati/rezultati\_red.asp?ter=SLO&st=7.

#### Poland

Ministry of Interior. 2005. "Act on national and ethnic minorities and on the regional languages." Accessed: 25 May 2012. www.msw.gov.pl/download.php?s=1&id=2327.

Ministry of Interior. 2012. "Characteristics of ethnic and national minorities in Poland." Accessed: 25 May. http://www2.mswia.gov.pl/portal.php?serwis=en&dzial=10&id=56.

National Electoral Commission. 2011. "Elections 2011 to the Sejm and Senate" Accessed: 25 May. http://wybory2011.pkw.gov.pl/kom/en/statystyka.html.

#### Romania

Chamber of Deputies of Romania. 2012. "Constitution of Romania." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.cdep.ro/pls/dic/site.page?id=371.

Permanent Electoral Authority. 2012 "Legislation" and "Election Results". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.roaep.ro/en.

#### Taiwan

Council of Indigenous Peoples, Executive Yuan. 2012. "Laws and Regulations." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.apc.gov.tw/portal/docList.html?currentPage=1&CID=74DD1F415708 044A.

The Legislative Yuan of the Republic of China. 2012. "Members of the Legislative Yuan" and "Concise History". Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.ly.gov.tw/en/01\_introduce/intro View.action?id=4.

#### Venezuela

Political Database of the Americas. 2011. "Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela Constitutions". [*in Spanish*] Last updated: March 21. http://pdba.georgetown.edu/constitutions/venezuela/venezuela.html.

# 8. References

Alionescu, Ciprian-Calin. 2004. "Parliamentary Representation of Minorities in Romania." *Southeast European Politics* 5(1): 50-75.

Basedau, Matthias. 1999. "Niger." In *Elections in Africa: A Data Handbook*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Michael Krennerich and Bernhard Thibaut, 677-696. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Birch, Sarah, Frances Millard, Marina Popescu and Kieran Williams. 2002. *Embodying Democracy: Electoral System Design in Post-communist Europe*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Mcmillan.

Bird, Karen. 2005. "The Political Representation of Visible Minorities in Electoral Democracies: A Comparison of France, Denmark, and Canada." *Nationalism and Ethnic Politics* 11: 425-465.

Blais, André and Louis Massicotte. 1996. "Electoral systems." In Comparing Democracies. *Elections and Voting in a Global Perspective*, eds. Lawrence LeDuc, Richard Niemi and Pippa Norris, 49-81. London: Sage Publications.

Ballington, Julie and Azza Karam, eds. 2005. Women in Parliament: Beyond Numbers: A Revised Edition, Stockholm: IDEA.

Banducci, Susan A., Todd Donovan and Jeffery A. Karp. 2004. "Minority Representation, Empowerment, and Participation." The Journal of Politics, 66(2): 534-556.

Berneauer, Julian and Daniel Bochsler. 2011. "Electoral Entry and Success of Ethnic Minority Parties in Central and Easter Europe: A Hierarchical selection model." Electoral Studies, Bochsler, Daniel. 2006. "Electoral Rules and the Representation of Ethnic Minorities in Postcommunist Democracies." Thesis. Available at: http://academos.ro/content/electoral-rulesand-representation-ethnic-minorities-post-communist-democracies. Accessed: 25 May 2012. Zurich: University of Zurich.

Bochsler, Daniel. 2011. "It Is Not How Many Votes You Get, but Also Where You Get Them. Territorial Determinants and Institutional Hurdles for the Success of Ethnic Minority Parties in Post-communist Countries." *Acta Politica* 46(3): 217-238.

Bushnell, David and Rex A. Hudson. 2010. "Racial Distinctions". In *Colombia: A Country Study*, ed. Rex A. Hudson, 86-89. Washington: Library of Congress Federal Research Division.

Christopher, A.J. 1992. "Ethnicity, Community and the census in Mauritius, 1830-1990". *The Geographical Journal* 158(1): 57-64.

Dietrich, Renate. 2001. "Jordan." In *Elections in Asia and the Pacific: A Data Handbook – Volume 1: The Middle East, Central Asia and South Asia*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Florian Grotz and Christof Hartmann, 141-154. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

European Centre for Minority Issues (ECMI). 2011. "Non-Territorial Autonomy: Interpretations, Forms and Opportunities." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.ecmi.de/ clusters/justice-governance/non-territorial-autonomy.

Geddis, Andrew. 2006. "A Dual Track Democracy? The Symbolic Role of the Maori Seats in New Zealand's Electoral System. "*Election Law Journal*, 5(4): 347-371.

Gallagher, Michael and Paul Mitchell, ed. 2005. *The Politics of Electoral Systems*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hartmann, Christof, Graham Hassall and Soliman M. Santos Jr. 2001. "Philippines" In *Elections in Asia and the Pacific: A Data Handbook – Volume 2: South Asia, East Asia and the Pacific*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Florian Grotz and Christof Hartmann, 185-238. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Heath, Anthony, Siana Glouharova and Oliver Heath. 2005. "India: Two-Party Contests within a Multiparty System." In *The Politics of Electoral Systems*, eds. Michael Gallagher and Paul Mitchell, 137-156. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Horowitz, Donald. 1985. Ethnic Groups in Conflict. Berkely: University of California Press.

Horowitz, Donald. 2002. "Constitutional Design: Proposals versus Processes." In *The Architecture of Democracy: Constitutional Design, Conflict Management, and Democracy,* ed. Andrew Reynolds, 15-36. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Htun, Mala. 2004. "Is Gender like Ethnicity? The Political Representation of Identity Groups." *Perspectives on Politics*, 2(3): 439-458.

Hudson, Michael C. 1976. "The Lebanese Crisis: The Limits of Consociational Democracy." *Journal of Palestine Studies*, 5(3): 109-122.

Inter-Parliamentary Union. 2009. "Promoting inclusive parliaments: The representation of minorities and indigenous peoples in parliaments." Accessed: 25 May 2012. http://www.ipu. org/dem-e/minorities/project.pdf.

Jaramillo, Juan and Beatriz Franco-Cuervo. 2005. "Colombia." *Elections in the Americas: A Data Handbook – Volume 2: South America*, ed. Dieter Nohlen, 295-264. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Komac, Miran. 2002. "Protection of Ethnic Minorities in the Republic of Slovenia." In *Slovenia & European Standards for the Protection of National Minorities*, eds. Miroslav Polzer, Liana Kalčina and Mitja Žagar. Ljubljana: Institute for Ethnic Studies.

Krennerich, Michael. 1999. "Mauritius." In *Elections in Africa: A Data Handbook*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Michael Krennerich and Bernhard Thibaut, 603-622. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Krook, Mona Lena. 2009. *Quotas for Women in Politics: Gender and Candidate Selection Reform Worldwide*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Krook, Mona Lena and Diana Z. O'Brien. 2010. "The Politics of Group Representation. Quotas for Women and Minorities Worldwide." *Comparative Politics* 42(3):253-272.

Krook, Mona Lena and Fiona Mackay. 2011. Gender, Politics and Institutions: Towards a Feminist Institutionalism. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan

Kymlicka, Will. 1995. Multicultural Citizenship. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Lay Hwee, Yeo. 2002. "Electoral Politics in Singapore." In *Electoral politics in Southeast & East Asia*, ed. Aurel Croissant, 203-232. Singapore: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.

Lijphart, Arend. 1969. Consociational Democracy. World Politics, 21(2): 207-225.

Lijphart, Arend. 2003 [1986]. "Proportionality by Non-PR Methods: Ethnic Representation in Belgium, Cyprus, Lebanon, New Zealand, West Germany, and Zimbabwe." In *Electoral Laws and Their Political Consequences*, ed. Bernard Grofman and Arend Lijphart, 3<sup>rd</sup> edition, 113-123. New York: Agathon.

Lijphart, Arend. 1995. "Self-Determination versus Pre-Determination of Ethnic Minorities in Power Sharing Systems." In *The Rights of Minority Cultures*, ed. Will Kymlicka, 275-287. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Lijphart, Arend. 2008. *Thinking About Democracy: Power Sharing And Majority Rule In Theory And Practice*. London and New York: Routledge.

Mansbridge, Jane. 1999. "Should Blacks Represent Blacks and Women Represent Women? A Contingent 'Yes'." *Journal of Politics* 61(3): 628-657.

Mathur, Raj. 1997. "Parliamentary Representation of Minority Communities: The Mauritian Experience." *Africa Today*, 44(1): 61-82.

Meier, Petra. 2000. "The Evidence of Being Present: Guarantees of Representation and the Belgian Example." *Acta Politica* 35(1): 64-85.

Meier, Petra. 2009. "Defining Groups Entitled to Reserved Seats in National Legislatures: A Comparative Approach" Paper presented at the annual APSA meeting, Toronto, Canada, September 3-6. Available at: http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=1451143. Accessed: 25 May 2012.

Molina, Jose and Bernard Thibaut . 2005. "Venezuela". *Elections in the Americas: A Data Handbook – Volume 2: South America*, ed. Dieter Nohlen, 535-595. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Mutalib, Hussin. 2002. "Constitutional-Electoral Reforms and Politics in Singapore." *Legislative Studies Quarterly*, 27(4): 659-672.

Norris, Pippa. 2004. *Electoral Engineering*. *Voting Rules and Political Behavior*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Phillips, Anne. 1995. The Politics of Presence. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Pitkin, Hanna. 1967. The Concept of Representation. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Protsyk, Oleh. 2010. A Global Overview: The Representation of Minorities and Indigenous Peoples in Parliament. International Parliamentary Union and the United Nations Development Programme. http://www.ipu.org/splz-e/chiapas10/overview.pdf.

Protsyk, Oleh and Lupsa Marius Matichescu. 2010. "Electoral Rules and Minority Representation in Romania." *Communist and Post-Communist Studies*, 43: 31-41.

Reilly, Benjamin. 2001. Democracy in Divided Societies: Electoral Engineering for Conflict Management. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Renwick, Alan. 2011. *Hungary's New Electoral Law, Part 1: The Basics*. Accessed: 24 May 2012. http://blogs.reading.ac.uk/readingpolitics/2011/12/25/hungary%E2%80%99s-new-electoral-law-part-1-the-basics/

Reynolds, Andrew. 2006. *Electoral Systems and the Protection and Participation of Minorities*. Minority Rights Group International. http://www.minorityrights.org /download.php?id=161.

Rinza, Marianne. 2001. "Taiwan." In *Elections in Asia and the Pacific: A Data Handbook – Volume 2: South Asia, East Asia and the Pacific*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Florian Grotz and Christof Hartmann, 525-570. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ruedin, Didier. 2009. "Ethnic Group Representation in a Cross-National Comparison." *The Journal of Legislative Studies* 15(4): 335-354.

Russell, David and Nadim Shehadi. 2005. "Power Sharing and National Reconciliation: The Case of Lebanon." In *Power Sharing: New Challenges for Divided Societies*, eds. Ian O'Flynn and David Russell, 138-154. London: Pluto Press.

Shugart, Matthew and Martin P. Wattenberg. 2001. *Mixed-Member Electoral Systems: The Best of Both Worlds?* Oxford: Oxford University Press.

So'o, Asofou. 2001. "Samoa." In *Elections in Asia and the Pacific: A Data Handbook – Volume 2: South Asia, East Asia and the Pacific*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Florian Grotz and Christof Hartmann, 779-795. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Supreme Court of the Philippines. 2000. *Veterans Federation Party et al. vs. COMELEC: G.R. No. 136781.* http://sc.judiciary.gov.ph/jurisprudence/2000/oct2000/136781.htm.

Supreme Court of the Philippines. 2009. BANAT vs. COMELEC: G.R. No. 179271. http://sc.judiciary.gov.ph/jurisprudence/2009/april2009/179271.htm.

Sweiss, Suleiman. 2005. "Electoral Systems in Jordan." In: *Building Democracy in Jordan: Women's Political Participation, Political Party Life and Democratic Elections,* eds. Ibtissam al-Attiyat, Musa Shteiwi, Suleiman Sweiss, 103-142. Stockholm: IDEA.

Teehankee, Julio. 2002. "Electoral Politics in the Philippines." In *Electoral politics in Southeast & East Asia*, ed. Aurel Croissant, 149-202. Singapore: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung.

Van Cott, Donna Lee. 2003. "Andean Indigenous Movements and Constitutional Transformation: Venezuela in Comparative Perspective", *Latin American Perspectives* 30(1): 49-69. Vowels Jack. 2005. "New Zealand: The Consolidation of Reform?" In *The Politics of Electoral Systems*, eds. Michael Gallagher and Paul Mitchell, 295-312. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Ward, Cynthia. 1991. "The Limits of 'Liberal Republicanism': Why Group-Based Remedies and Republican Citizenship Don't Mix" *Columbia Law Review* 91(3): 581-607.

Williams, Melissa S. 1998. Voice, Trust, and Memory. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Wurfel, David. 1997. "The Party-List Elections: Sectoral or National? Success or Failure?" *Kasarinlan*, 13(2): 19-30.

Young, Iris Marion. 1990. Justice and the Politics of Difference. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Zengel, Wolfgang-Peter. 2001. "Pakistan." In *Elections in Asia and the Pacific: A Data Handbook – Volume 1: The Middle East, Central Asia and South Asia*, eds. Dieter Nohlen, Florian Grotz and Christof Hartmann, 661-696. Oxford: Oxford University Press.